Guidance Document

Safety of Sperm and Ova Regulations





Health Canada is responsible for helping Canadians maintain and improve their health. It ensures that high-quality health services are accessible, and works to reduce health risks.

Également disponible en français sous le titre :

Ligne directrice : Règlement sur la sécurité des spermatozoïdes et des ovules

To obtain additional information, please contact:

Health Canada Address Locator 0900C2 Ottawa, ON K1A 0K9 Tel.: 613-957-2991

Toll free: 1-866-225-0709

Fax: 613-941-5366 TTY: 1-800-465-7735

E-mail: hc.publications-publications.sc@canada.ca

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, as represented by the Minister of Health, 2019 Publication date: August 2019

This publication may be reproduced for personal or internal use only without permission provided the source is fully acknowledged.

ISBN: 978-0-660-32167-7

Catalogue Number: H164-289/2019E-PDF

Publication Number: 190282

Foreword

Guidance documents are meant to provide assistance to industry and health care professionals on how to comply with governing statutes and regulations. Guidance documents also provide assistance to staff on how Health Canada mandates and objectives should be implemented in a manner that is fair, consistent, and effective.

Guidance documents are administrative instruments not having force of law and, as such, allow for flexibility in approach. Alternate approaches to the principles and practices described in this document *may be* acceptable provided they are supported by adequate justification. Alternate approaches should be discussed in advance with the relevant programme area to avoid the possible finding that applicable statutory or regulatory requirements have not been met.

This document should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notice and the relevant sections of other applicable Guidance documents.

Table of contents

Foreword	2
Table of contents	
Introduction	
Purpose/Overview	
Scope and application	
Policy objectives	
Policy statements	
Background	
Guidance for implementation	
Interpretation	6
General Requirements	13
Registration	15
Notification	26
Donor Suitability	30
Regular Process	30
Directed Donation Process	55
Quality Management	63
Quality Management System	64
Tracing and Identifying	70
Labelling and Storing	71
Personnel, Facilities, Equipment and Supplies	74
Errors and Accidents	80
Adverse Reactions	92
Records	100
Transitional Provisions	106
Consequential Amendment to the Safety of Human Cells, Tissues and Organ Regulations	
Repeal	109
Coming into Force	109
References	111

Introduction

Purpose/Overview

This Guidance document provides information on the interpretation and application of the Safety of Sperm and Ova Regulations (Safety Regulations) which are made under the Assisted Human Reproduction Act (AHR Act).

Scope and application

The Safety Regulations apply to donor sperm and ova intended for use in assisted human reproduction (AHR) by a recipient who is not the spouse, common-law partner or sexual partner of the donor. This includes the use of donor sperm in assisted human reproduction techniques (e.g., in vitro fertilization). The Safety Regulations also apply to ova that has been obtained from a donor and that is intended for the donor's use (i.e. via in vitro fertilization) as a surrogate mother.

It is important to note that the Safety Regulations do not apply to sperm and ova obtained from a spouse, common law partner, or sexual partner of the recipient. In addition, the Safety Regulations apply to donor sperm that is distributed by an establishment or health professional to a recipient for their personal use, however, they do not apply to that person's own use of donor sperm to self-inseminate.

The Safety Regulations apply to all establishments and health professionals who process, import, distribute or make use of donor sperm or ova for the purpose of AHR. In addition to this Guidance document, the AHR Act as well as the most up to date Health Canada Directive: Technical Requirements for Conducting the Suitability Assessment of Sperm and Ova Donors (Directive) should be consulted for a more detailed understanding of the Safety Regulations.

It is the responsibility of the regulated party to ensure that they have access to the most recent version of the AHR Act, the Safety Regulations, the Directive, and this Guidance document.

Policy objectives

The purpose of this regulatory framework is to help minimize the potential health risks to individuals in Canada who use donor sperm or ova for the purpose of AHR to help them build their families. This includes the risk of infectious disease transmission from the donor or during processing, to the recipient as well as to the child born of AHR, and the risk of genetic disease transmission from the donor to the child.

Policy statements

The Safety Regulations are risk-based in their design, meaning that the level of regulatory oversight corresponds to the level of risk an activity poses to the health and safety of individuals in Canada who use AHR to build their families. The Safety Regulations are focused on the safety of the donated sperm or ova and were designed in a way that

recognizes and complements the role the provinces and territories play in overseeing the practice of health professionals who are authorized to make use of sperm or ova in Canada.

Background

The AHR Act received royal assent on March 29, 2004. The Act was based on recommendations made by the 1993 Royal Commission on New Reproductive Technologies, which had the mandate to examine the ethical, legal, social, and economic implications of reproductive technologies and their impact on Canadian society, and in particular on women, children and families.

The AHR Act was written to be a comprehensive legislative framework that established provisions to protect and promote the health, safety, dignity, and rights of Canadians who use or are born of AHR technology. The goal of the AHR Act is to protect Canadians by setting out prohibited activities related to AHR that may pose significant human health and safety risks to Canadians or that are deemed to be ethically unacceptable or incompatible with Canadian values.

The current version of section 10 of the AHR Act was introduced in 2012, as part of amendments made to the Act following the Supreme Court of Canada's 2010 ruling that significant portions of the Act were unconstitutional due to their intrusion into provincial jurisdiction.

Section 10 of the AHR Act prohibits the distribution, use, and importation of donor sperm and ova for the purpose of AHR unless: (a) tests have been conducted in respect of the sperm or ova in accordance with the Safety Regulations, and the sperm or ova have been obtained, prepared, preserved, quarantined, identified, labelled, and stored and their quality assessed in accordance with the Safety Regulations; and (b) the donor of the sperm or ova has been screened and tested, and the donor's suitability has been assessed, in accordance with the Safety Regulations.

Guidance for implementation

In this Guidance document, the word "should" indicates a recommendation made by Health Canada. Where standards are recommended, decisions regarding their implementation should be based on a risk benefit analysis within the context of the establishment or health professional's operations. It should also be noted that the Safety Regulations specify minimum safety standards that may be exceeded by establishments and health professionals.

The statements enclosed in the boxes are sections taken directly from the Regulations. If there is a discrepancy between the text in this Guidance and the Regulations, the Regulations will take precedence.

Interpretation

Definitions

1 (1) The following definitions apply in these Regulations.

accident means an unexpected event that is not attributable to a deviation from the standard operating procedures or applicable laws, including these Regulations and that could compromise human health and safety or the safety of sperm or ova. (accident)

activity, in respect of sperm or ova, means any of the following activities:

- (a) processing, which means
 - (i) performing the donor suitability assessment,
 - (ii) obtaining the sperm or ova from a donor,
 - (iii) preparing,
 - (iv) identifying,
 - (v) testing,
 - (vi) preserving,
 - (vii) assessing quality,
 - (viii) labelling,
 - (ix) quarantining, or
 - (x) storing;
- (b) distributing; and
- (c) importing. (activité)

Obtaining the sperm or ova from a donor

Obtaining is the collection or retrieval of sperm or ova from the donor. Sperm and ova must be obtained in a manner that reduces the risk to human health and safety and the safety of the sperm or ova. Specifically, measures must be taken to prevent contamination or crosscontamination and the transmission of an infectious disease, while also maintaining the quality of the sperm or ova.

Preparing

Preparation of sperm for use in AHR consists of the manipulation or treatment of sperm using a procedure to isolate sperm from semen, urine, testicular tissue or from an aspirate¹. Commonly used methods of sperm preparation have two primary objectives: 1) to separate the sperm from the seminal fluid, and 2) to select the best quality sperm (i.e., motile sperm with normal morphology). Preparation of ova consists of the isolation of ova from surrounding cells, assessing the morphological quality and maturity of the isolated ova, and culturing of ova.

Preparation of sperm or ova for use in AHR presents the risk of contamination or crosscontamination and the risk of transmission of infectious diseases or disease agents to the recipient and the child born through assisted reproduction technology (ART)². The risk of contamination or cross-contamination is even greater for establishments that prepare sperm or ova from a donor who has tested positive for infectious disease agents (e.g., HIV, $HCV)^3$.

Sperm and ova must be prepared in a manner that reduces the risk to human health and safety and the safety of the sperm or ova. Specifically, measures must be taken to prevent contamination or cross-contamination and the transmission of an infectious disease, while also maintaining the quality of the sperm or ova. Measures can include, but are not limited to, the use of appropriate equipment, and effective protocols such as density gradient centrifugation.

Preserving

Preserving is any procedure (e.g., cryopreservation) which has the purpose of maintaining the functionality of sperm or ova over a period of time. Establishments that preserve must do so using a method that prevents contamination and cross-contamination and that permits long term storage.

Sperm and ova must be preserved in a manner that reduces the risk to human health and safety and the safety of the sperm or ova. Specifically, measures must be taken to prevent contamination or cross-contamination and the transmission of an infectious disease, while also maintaining the quality of the sperm or ova.

Assessing quality

The quality of sperm can impact the health of the recipient (e.g., as it can reduce the chances of achieving a healthy pregnancy) as well as the health of the individual born of sperm that is of reduced quality^{4, 5, 6}. An establishment that conducts a quality assessment of donor sperm should do so using a number of appropriate and effective methods, as recommended by various clinical guidelines. These include, but are not limited to, tests to assess sperm efficacy (motility, concentration, morphology), as well as tests to assess sperm quality before and after cryopreservation. When conducting a preliminary assessment of sperm quality, primary establishments must have in place minimum criteria for determining the acceptability of sperm samples.

The assessment of sperm motility is essential to establishing its quality. Sperm motility should be assessed as soon as possible after liquefaction of the sample to limit the deleterious effects of dehydration, pH or changes in temperature on motility⁷. In cases where sperm motility is low (less than 40%), an assessment of sperm vitality could be considered. Sperm vitality is estimated by assessing the membrane integrity of the cells to distinguish the immotile, live sperm cells from the dead sperm cells.

Sperm concentration, or sperm count, refers to the number of spermatozoa per unit volume of semen. It is a function of the number of spermatozoa emitted and the volume of fluid that dilutes them. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), a normal sperm count is considered to be over 15 million sperm per milliliter.

A morphological assessment of sperm should also be performed to assess its quality. This technical assessment includes an examination of the structure and shape of sperm cells as seen under a microscope using various nuclear and cytoplasmic stains. An establishment conducting the morphological assessment should employ a method that ensures consistent interpretations and diagnoses.

The methodology used to assess sperm efficacy, including sperm motility, concentration, and morphology, should comply with internationally recognized standards such as those set out in the WHO Laboratory Manual for the Examination of Human Semen⁸.

In addition to assessing sperm efficacy, the quality of sperm before and after cryopreservation should be assessed given that cryopreservation is known to have an adverse effect on sperm motility. Cell survival after freezing and thawing depends largely on the minimization of intracellular water subject to ice formation. On average, approximately 50% of motile spermatozoa survive this process.

An establishment that assesses sperm quality post thaw must do so using appropriate and effective methods to minimize the damage caused by the cryopreservation process. The methodology used by establishments to assess sperm quality post thaw should comply with nationally or internationally recognized standards such as those set out by the Canadian Standards Association (CSA) National Standard on Tissues for Assisted Reproduction or in the WHO Laboratory Manual for the Examination of Human Semen.

Quarantining

Donor sperm and ova must be guarantined until certain conditions are met, including until the donor has been determined suitable under the regular process. Additionally, donor sperm and ova must also be quarantined in the event of an error, accident or adverse reaction.

There are two important concepts built in to the term quarantine, for the purposes of the Safety Regulations. First, all sperm and ova required to be quarantined must be identified as such and segregated from sperm and ova not under quarantine. Second, sperm and ova required to be quarantined must not be distributed or used.

For the purposes of the Safety Regulations, segregation can take the form of storing the donor sperm or ova in a physically separate area designated for such use or segregating through the use of a validated electronic segregation system (e.g., a validated computer system and barcode labeled sperm/ova containers).

It is important to note that the Safety Regulations also refer to segregated storage. While segregation is an important component of quarantining, these are to be understood as distinct concepts. Under certain situations (e.g., directed donation, exceptional access), donor sperm and ova that may pose a risk to human health and safety are permitted to be distributed and used. However, in those situations the sperm and ova must always be segregated from all other sperm and ova in order to mitigate risk.

adverse reaction means the unexpected presence of an infectious disease agent or the unexpected occurrence of an infectious disease in a recipient of sperm or ova or a child created from that sperm or those ova. (effet indésirable)

Directive means the document entitled Technical Requirements for Conducting the Suitability Assessment of Sperm and Ova Donors, published by the Department of Health, as amended from time to time. (Directive)

donation code means the unique group of numbers, letters, symbols or a combination of any of them that identifies the sperm or ova donation. (code d'identification du don)

donor identification code means the unique group of numbers, letters, symbols or a combination of any of them that is assigned to a donor. (code d'identification du donneur)

donor suitability assessment means an assessment of a donor that is based on the following:

- (a) donor screening;
- (b) physical examination of the donor; and
- (c) donor testing. (évaluation de l'admissibilité du donneur)

error means a deviation from the standard operating procedures or applicable laws, including these Regulations, that could compromise human health and safety or the safety of sperm or ova. (manquement)

establishment means a person, partnership, unincorporated entity or a part of any of them that conducts an activity but only includes a health professional if the health professional conducts an activity that is not referred to in the definition health professional. (établissement)

health professional means a person who is authorized under the laws of a province to make use of sperm or ova in that province and who:

- (a) makes use of sperm or ova or distributes sperm to a recipient for their personal use;
- (b) prepares, guarantines, labels or stores sperm or ova for the purpose of their use by that person; or
- (c) prepares, quarantines, labels or stores sperm for the purpose of its distribution by that person to a recipient for their personal use. (professionnel de la santé)

Directive

The Directive sets out the minimum technical requirements for conducting the donor suitability assessment, including donor screening, physical examination, and donor testing. It includes the technical requirements for screening the donor for the risk of infectious and genetic disease transmission and testing the donor for the presence of infectious disease agents. The Directive is informed by national and international standards and regulations, including the CSA standard on Tissues for Assisted Reproduction⁹.

Establishment

An establishment is an entity that imports or distributes donor sperm or ova or conducts any processing activity (see definition of "activity" as set out in section 1 of the Safety Regulations) with regard to such sperm or ova. A primary establishment is also considered to be an establishment.

An establishment that conducts a processing activity in respect of sperm or ova must do so in accordance with the Safety Regulations. If they are conducting that activity on behalf of a primary establishment they must be listed on the registration of that primary establishment.

For example, a testing lab may conduct donor testing on behalf of a primary establishment. That testing lab is considered an establishment, and is subject to the requirements of the Safety Regulations, but is not required to register with Health Canada. However, this testing lab is required to be listed on the registration of all primary establishments for which it conducts donor testing.

In some circumstances, an establishment may be considered to be independently conducting a processing activity, where it is not doing so on behalf of a primary establishment and is not itself a primary establishment. An example of this is when a fertility clinic merely stores donor sperm or ova prior to making use of them. Such an establishment must conduct its activities in accordance with the Safety Regulations, but is not required to register with Health Canada or be listed on a primary establishment's registration.

Health Professional

A health professional is a person who is authorized by the laws of their province or territory to make use of donor sperm or ova in AHR. A health professional is not considered an establishment when the health professional only conducts the following activities:

- makes use of donor sperm or ova;
- distributes donor sperm to a recipient for their personal use;
- prepares, quarantines, labels or stores donor sperm or ova only for the purpose of making use of that sperm or ova; or
- prepares, quarantines, labels or stores donor sperm only for the purpose of distributing that sperm to a recipient for their personal use.

As an integral part of the health and safety framework, health professionals are required to meet certain regulatory requirements with regard to records to permit the traceability of the donor sperm or ova, as well as requirements related to communicating risk, errors, accidents, and adverse reactions.

Where a person that is authorized to make use of donor sperm or ova conducts any activity, as defined by the Safety Regulations, other than those listed in the definition of a health professional, that person would be considered an establishment and subject to the relevant establishment requirements that correspond to the activities being carried out.

Furthermore, where a health professional or a group of health professionals has incorporated their practice, the corporation is considered an establishment and is subject to the relevant regulatory requirements.

There are some scenarios where the Safety Regulations equally apply to both the health professional and the establishment that may lead to some potential confusion. These could include situations where a health professional works for an establishment or where a health professional structures their practice by creating a corporation, in which case the health professional is not considered an establishment when they label, prepare, quarantine or store as an individual, yet the corporation is considered an establishment if it conducts any processing activity.

Regulatory obligations that are imposed on both health professionals and establishments apply equally to both parties in the scenarios described above. However, in these cases, Health Canada is of the view that the requirements on both the health professional and the establishment could be satisfied by a single or shared action on the part of both parties. For example, both the health professional and establishment have a requirement to maintain records with respect to the sperm and ova it uses. Where the health professional works for an establishment, for example, these requirements could be satisfied in the form of a single set of records that is maintained in the establishment's record management system.

The reason for the design of the Safety Regulations is to ensure that certain requirements that are at the core of the health and safety framework apply to health professionals who only make use of sperm or ova (e.g., family physician who performs intrauterine insemination) or distribute sperm to a recipient for their personal use (e.g., a family physician who serves as the shipping address for donor sperm to be used for selfinsemination). These include requirements related to the communication of risk to the recipient, records to permit the traceability of the donor sperm or ova, as well as requirements related to errors, accidents, and adverse reactions.

human health and safety means the health and safety of a recipient of sperm or ova or a child created from that sperm or those ova to the extent that their health and safety relate to the safety of the sperm or ova. (santé et sécurité humaines)

medical director, in respect of a primary establishment, means a person who is authorized under the laws of the jurisdiction in which the primary establishment is situated to practise the profession of medicine and who is responsible for all medical and technical procedures carried out during the processing of sperm or ova. (directeur médical)

Medical Director

The medical director is a person in the primary establishment who is authorized under the laws of the jurisdiction in which the primary establishment is situated to practise medicine and who is responsible for all medical and technical procedures carried out during the processing of sperm or ova.

The medical director plays a number of key roles during processing that are critical to the safety of the donation.

First, the medical director, or a physician or nurse practitioner designated by the medical director, is responsible for conducting and documenting the donor suitability assessment, including donor screening, physical examination of the donor as well as donor testing.

The medical director is also responsible for preparing a structured questionnaire used to screen the donor, but may designate a physician or, in the case of genetic screening, a qualified professional to prepare it on their behalf.

Under the Regular Process for donation, based on the information obtained from the donor suitability assessment, the medical director is responsible for determining the suitability of a donor and documenting that the donation may be released from quarantine, which allows the donation to be distributed. Finally, the medical director is responsible for creating a summary document that contains information such as donor test results and a confirmation of the donor's suitability.

Under the Directed Donation Process, as set out in section 30 to 40 of the Safety Regulations, the medical director is responsible for reviewing and documenting the information obtained from the donor suitability assessment and, if applicable, the donor reassessment. In addition, the medical director is responsible for documenting any exclusion criteria that were met by the donor or parts of the donor suitability assessment that were not conducted, for review and consideration by the health professional.

primary establishment means an establishment that conducts all processing activities in respect of sperm or ova, whether it conducts them itself or another establishment conducts any of the activities on its behalf. (établissement principal)

quarantine, with respect to sperm and ova, means the quarantine described in subsection 28(2) conducted by an establishment or a health professional. (mise en quarantaine)

standard operating procedures means the component of a quality management system that comprises instructions that set out the processes applicable to the components of the system and to the activities carried out by an establishment. (procédures d'opération normalisées)

Primary Establishment

A primary establishment is the entity responsible for ensuring that, prior to distribution or use in Canada, donor sperm and ova are processed in accordance with the Safety Regulations. They are responsible for all processing activities, whether they conduct them themselves or another establishment does any of the processing activities on their behalf.

In many cases, the primary establishment will be a commercial sperm or ova bank. However, in certain instances, a fertility clinic or an individual physician may register as a primary establishment and take on the responsibility for all processing activities that it conducts itself or that is done on its behalf in order to facilitate a donation.

Amendments to Directive

(2) The document referred to in the definition of *Directive* is deemed to be amended for the purposes of these Regulations if the amendment is not inconsistent with the purpose of reducing risks to human health and safety.

The purpose of this subsection is to set out the circumstances under which the Directive may be amended.

The Directive is incorporated by reference on an ambulatory basis into the Safety Regulations, meaning it can be amended from time to time. This provides the Department with the ability to quickly update the requirements based on emerging scientific advances in the field of AHR and to effectively address urgent circumstances, for example, in the event of an emerging disease.

General Requirements

Primary establishment — conformity of processing

2 (1) A primary establishment must ensure that sperm or ova are processed in accordance with these Regulations before distributing or making use of them.

Primary establishment — activities on its behalf

(2) The primary establishment must ensure that every establishment that conducts any processing on its behalf meets the requirements of these Regulations.

The primary establishment has a central role in ensuring the safety of donor sperm and ova. This section establishes the two fundamental responsibilities of the primary establishment, namely to ensure that the sperm or ova that they distribute or make use of are processed in accordance with the Safety Regulations prior to doing so, and to ensure that every establishment that conducts a processing activity on its behalf does so in accordance with the Safety Regulations.

Some ways that a primary establishment can help ensure that an establishment conducting activities on their behalf is in compliance with the Safety Regulations, include the following:

- have written agreements or contracts in place that clearly outline the responsibilities and compliance with the Safety Regulations;
- ensure that the responsibilities are listed and understood as they relate to the requirements;

- audit the establishment prior to making arrangements for them to conduct activities on their behalf to ensure they meet the requirements of the Regulations;
- ensure that the establishment is conducting the audits as required by section 45 of the Safety Regulations and review the results of those audits;
- review test kit package inserts that are being used by establishments conducting donor testing on their behalf;
- review standard operating procedures applicable to the requirements in the Safety Regulations;
- review previous compliance history or actions; and
- ensure that the establishment has the appropriate quality management requirements in place, in relation to the activities they conduct under the Safety Regulations.

If a primary establishment becomes aware or has information to suggest that an establishment conducting activities on their behalf is not meeting the requirements, the primary establishment must:

- determine whether the deficiency meets the definition of an error or accident and could compromise human health and safety or the safety of sperm and ova as set out in section 59 to 68 of the Safety Regulations; and
- take reasonable steps to ensure that the establishment complies with the requirements. For example, review the establishment's corrective action plan and verify that corrective actions have been taken under the establishment's quality program.

If a primary establishment determines that the establishment is not meeting the requirements of the Safety Regulations, the primary establishment must take appropriate action to ensure that sperm or ova is processed in accordance with the Safety Regulations prior to distribution or use.

It is important to note that Health Canada has the ability to suspend a registration immediately, in whole or in part, if there are reasonable grounds to believe human health and safety or the safety of sperm or ova has been or could be compromised. For example, Health Canada could suspend a part of the primary establishment's registration, to mitigate the risk posed by an establishment that is not conducting their activities in compliance with the Safety Regulations provided that the reasonable grounds threshold is met.

Establishment that imports

3 An establishment that imports sperm or ova must ensure that the sperm or ova are processed by a primary establishment that is registered in accordance with these Regulations.

Establishments that import donor sperm and ova play an important role in maintaining the safety of the distribution chain within Canada. It is for this reason that this section requires an establishment that imports donor sperm or ova to ensure that the sperm or ova are processed by a primary establishment that is registered with Health Canada.

There may be cases where a primary establishment is also importing donor sperm or ova. This means that either they must ensure that the donor sperm or ova are processed by a primary establishment that is registered with Health Canada or they must take on the responsibility for ensuring that the sperm or ova they import has been processed in accordance with the Regulations.

Registration

Application, Issuance and Refusal

Requirement to register — primary establishment

4 A primary establishment that processes sperm or ova must be registered and may process sperm or ova, subject to any change under paragraph 11(1)(a), only in accordance with its registration.

Who is required to register?

Primary establishments that are responsible for all of the processing activities must be registered with Health Canada by submitting an application for registration to Health Canada, as set out in section 5 of the Safety Regulations, and must only process sperm or ova in accordance with their registration. Establishments conducting processing activities on behalf of a primary establishment are not required to register, but need to be listed on the application for a registration and must conduct the processing activities in accordance with the Safety Regulations.

It is important to note the Safety Regulations have been developed to allow for cases where an establishment or a health professional can take on the responsibility for all of the processing activities, even if another establishment conducts any of them on their behalf, and register with Health Canada as a primary establishment.

Example Scenario

Take for example a case where one sister, who lives in another country, decides to donate her ova for use by the other sister, who lives in Canada. Rather than the sister in the foreign country unnecessarily traveling to facilitate the donation, she could have her ova retrieved at a local fertility clinic. Provided that clinic conducts their processing activities (e.g., performing the donor suitability assessment, obtaining, preparing, preserving, and so on) in accordance with the Safety Regulations, the sister in Canada could approach a Canadian primary

establishment to list the foreign clinic on their registration, in which case the activities undertaken by the foreign clinic would be understood as being done on behalf of the primary establishment in Canada. The cryopreserved ova could then be imported by the primary establishment to complete the processing, at which point the medical director could determine and document that the ova can be released from quarantine and subsequently distributed or used.

In such cases, as part of the registration application, the primary establishment must submit the required information regarding any establishments conducting processing activities on their behalf, including any foreign establishments (e.g., sperm or ova bank) from which they wish to import sperm or ova. They must also ensure that they can meet the requirements of a primary establishment, including having their medical director determine the donor's suitability (e.g., in the case of a donation processed under the Regular Process), and must ensure that any establishment conducting activities on their behalf meet the requirements of the Safety Regulations.

The following are examples of establishments that are required to be either registered as a primary establishment, or listed on a primary establishment's registration.

Registered as primary establishment:

 establishments that are responsible for all of the processing activities (this can include both domestic and foreign establishments).

Listed on a primary establishment's registration:

- foreign establishments that process and distribute sperm or ova in Canada but are not registered as a primary establishment.
- a testing laboratory that is conducting the donor testing on behalf of a primary establishment.
- other establishments that conduct any of the processing activities on behalf of a primary establishment.

A foreign establishment may wish to register directly with Health Canada as a primary establishment to facilitate the distribution of sperm or ova to Canada. In addition, if the Canadian primary establishment lists the foreign establishment on their registration application and is importing from them, the Canadian establishment is also considered an establishment that imports sperm or ova.

Application

- **5 (1)** A primary establishment must submit an application for registration to the Minister, in the form established by the Minister, that contains the following information:
 - (a) the applicant's name, telephone number, email address, postal address and, if different from the postal address, civic address;

- (b) in the case of an applicant that previously conducted its activities under another name, either under these Regulations or the *Processing and Distribution of Semen for* Assisted Conception Regulations, that other name;
- (c) the first name, last name, telephone number and email address of a person to contact for further information concerning the application and, if different, a person to contact in case of emergency;
- (d) a statement indicating whether the applicant proposes to process sperm or ova;
- (e) a list of the processing activities that the applicant proposes to conduct in each building and, if not already provided, the civic address of the respective buildings;
- (f) a statement indicating whether the applicant proposes to have another establishment process sperm or ova on its behalf; and
- (g) the name and civic address of any other establishment that the applicant proposes to have conduct any of the processing activities on its behalf, a list of the processing activities that are proposed to be conducted in each building and, if not already provided, the civic address of the respective buildings.

Signature and attestation

- (2) The application must
 - (a) be signed and dated by a senior executive officer; and
 - (b) include an attestation from that senior executive officer of the following:
 - (i) that the applicant has evidence demonstrating that it is able to meet the requirements of these Regulations,
 - (ii) that any other establishment that is proposed to process sperm or ova on its behalf is able to meet the requirements of these Regulations,
 - (iii) that all information submitted in support of the application is accurate and complete, and
 - (iv) that the senior executive officer has the authority to bind the applicant.

Additional documents and information

(3) The applicant must provide to the Minister, on or before the date specified in the Minister's written request to that effect, any documents or information that the Minister considers necessary to complete his or her review of the application.

Subsection 5(1) of the Safety Regulations specifies the information that must be provided in the application for a registration.

Where to find the application form

The Sperm and Ova Establishment Registration Application and Notification form, along with instructions, can be obtained by sending a request to: AHR Registration at hc.ahrregistration-enregistrementpa.sc@canada.ca.

The applications for registration and notification are consolidated into one form in order to streamline the process to register or notify. Further instructions are provided within the form itself. Establishments will be informed by Health Canada of the location of the form when it is available on the Health Canada website.

The form must be dated and signed by a senior executive officer, including an attestation. A senior executive officer refers to an individual holding a position that has an assigned level of responsibility for activities the establishment conducts under the Safety Regulations and has the authority to bind the establishment applying for registration. The senior executive officer term refers to a function within the establishment and is not necessarily a specific position title.

It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure that the information provided in the Sperm and Ova Establishment Registration Application and Notification form is accurate and complete in accordance with the requirements of section 5 of the Safety Regulations before filing it with the Biological Product Compliance Program of the Regulatory Operations and Enforcement Branch within Health Canada. Submission of complete applications within the required timelines will help prevent delays in processing the forms.

Where to file the application form

By email: AHR Registration at hc.ahrregistration-enregistrementpa.sc@canada.ca

Please contact the Biological Product Compliance Program at hc.bpcp-pcpb.sc@canada.ca should you have any questions or require assistance.

Registration number

6 If the Minister determines, after reviewing an application for registration, that the information provided in the application is complete, the Minister must register the primary establishment and issue a registration number.

Inspection

Health Canada may inspect establishments prior to and/or after the issuance of a registration number. This includes both the primary establishment, as well as any establishments conducting activities on behalf of the primary establishment that is listed on the registration application.

Disclosure of information related to primary establishments

The information related to registered primary establishments, or establishments listed on a primary establishment's application may be made publicly available. For example, the listing of registered primary establishments may be accessible via the Health Canada website and public information may be shared in response to specific inquiries made to the Department.

Registration Expiry

Subject to sections 13, 15, and 16 of the Safety Regulations, there is no expiry for a registration number and hence no renewal process. However, a registration must be updated if any amendments or changes, as set out in sections 8 and 11 of the Safety Regulations respectively, are made to the primary establishment's registration.

In addition, an annual attestation as set out in section 20 of the Safety Regulations is required to be completed for all registered primary establishments and other establishments that distribute or import sperm or ova.

Refusal

- 7 The Minister may refuse to register an applicant if
 - (a) the Minister has reasonable grounds to believe that the applicant has submitted, in the application for registration, false, misleading, inaccurate or incomplete information;
 - (b) the applicant has not complied with subsection 5(3) or the documents and information that the applicant has provided under subsection 5(3) are not sufficient to complete the review of the application; or
 - (c) the Minister has reasonable grounds to believe that registering the primary establishment could compromise human health and safety or the safety of sperm or ova.

If Health Canada refuses to issue a registration for an applicant due to one or more of the criteria set out in section 7 of the Safety Regulations, the applicant will be notified of this decision.

For instance, Health Canada may refuse to register an applicant if there are reasonable grounds to believe that the health and safety of a recipient of sperm or ova or a child created from that sperm or those ova to the extent that their health and safety relate to the safety of the sperm and ova, could be compromised as a result of the registration.

Amendments

Amendments — application

8 (1) A primary establishment that processes only one of sperm or ova and proposes to begin processing the other must, before doing so, submit an application to the Minister to amend its registration, in the form established by the Minister, that contains a description of the proposed amendment, as well as the information referred to in

section 5 that is relevant to the proposed amendment.

Signature and attestation

- (2) The application must
 - (a) be signed and dated by a senior executive officer; and
 - **(b)** include an attestation from that senior executive officer of the following:
 - (i) that the applicant has evidence demonstrating that it is able to meet the requirements of these Regulations,
 - (ii) that any other establishment that is proposed to process sperm or ova on its behalf is able to meet the requirements of these Regulations,
 - (iii) that all information submitted in support of the application is accurate and complete, and
 - (iv) that the senior executive officer has the authority to bind the applicant.

Additional documents and information

(3) The primary establishment must provide to the Minister, on or before the date specified in the Minister's written request to that effect, any documents or information that the Minister considers necessary to complete his or her review of the application.

Amendment

9 If the Minister determines, after reviewing the application for the amendment to the registration, that the information provided in that application is complete, the Minister must amend the registration.

If a primary establishment only processes either sperm or ova but intends to begin processing the other, the primary establishment must submit an application to amend their registration.

Where to find the application form

The Sperm and Ova Establishment Registration Application and Notification form, along with instructions, can be obtained by sending a request to: AHR Registration at hc.ahrregistration-enregistrementpa.sc@canada.ca.

Establishments will be informed by Health Canada of the location of the form when it is available on the Health Canada website.

It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure that the information they provide in the Sperm and Ova Establishment Registration Application and Notification form is accurate and complete in accordance with the requirements of section 5 of the Safety Regulations before filing it with the Biological Product Compliance Program. Submission of complete applications within required timelines will help prevent delays in processing the forms.

Where to file the application form

By email: AHR Registration at hc.ahrregistration-enregistrementpa.sc@canada.ca

Please contact the Biological Product Compliance Program at hc.bpcp-pcpb.sc@canada.ca should you have any questions or require assistance.

Refusal

- 10 The Minister may refuse to amend the registration of the primary establishment if
 - (a) the Minister has reasonable grounds to believe that the primary establishment has submitted, in the application for amendment, false, misleading, inaccurate or incomplete information;
 - (b) the primary establishment has not complied with subsection 8(3) or the documents and information that it has provided under subsection 8(3) are not sufficient to complete the review of the application; or
 - (c) the Minister has reasonable grounds to believe that the amendment of the registration could compromise human health and safety or the safety of sperm or ova.

If Health Canada refuses to amend the registration of an applicant based on the grounds set out in section 10 of the Safety Regulations, the applicant will be notified of this decision and the applicant will be given an opportunity to be heard.

Changes or Cessation

Notice to Minister

- 11 (1) A primary establishment must notify the Minister in writing, in the form established by the Minister, within 30 days after the day on which
 - (a) there is any change to the information provided in the application for registration other than a change that is the subject of an application for an amendment to the registration — including the cessation of all activities with respect to either sperm or ova if the registration is for both sperm and ova; or
 - **(b)** the primary establishment has ceased all of its activities.

Contents of Notice

- (2) The notice must contain the following information:
 - (a) the primary establishment's name, telephone number, email address, postal address and, if different from the postal address, civic address;
 - (b) the primary establishment's registration number;

- (c) the date on which the change or cessation became effective; and
- (d) in the case of cessation, details of the disposition of the sperm or ova that are in the possession or control of the primary establishment.

Signature and attestation

- (3) The notice must
 - (a) be signed and dated by a senior executive officer; and
 - (b) include an attestation from that senior executive officer of the following:
 - (i) that if the primary establishment has not ceased all of its activities, it has evidence demonstrating that it meets the requirements of these Regulations,
 - (ii) that if the primary establishment has not ceased all of its activities, any other establishment that processes sperm or ova or is proposed to process sperm or ova on its behalf meets the requirements of these Regulations,
 - (iii) that all information submitted in support of the notice is accurate and complete, and
 - (iv) that the senior executive officer has the authority to bind the primary establishment.

Update to registration

12 The Minister must update the registration to reflect the notice.

Changes to registration information can be filed with the Biological Products Compliance Program using the Sperm and Ova Establishment Registration Application and Notification form with an accompanying cover letter summarizing the changes. Please refer to the form for further instructions. Changes include both changes to the primary establishment as well as additions or removals of the names of establishments conducting regulated activities on behalf of the primary establishment.

Where to find the application form

The Sperm and Ova Establishment Registration Application and Notification form, along with instructions, can be obtained by sending a request to: AHR Registration at hc.ahrregistration-enregistrementpa.sc@canada.ca.

Establishments will be informed by Health Canada of the location of the form when it is available on the Health Canada website.

It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure that the information they provide in the Sperm and Ova Establishment Registration Application and Notification form is accurate and complete in accordance with the requirements of section 5 of the Safety Regulations before filing it with the Biological Product Compliance Program. Submission of complete applications within required timelines will help prevent delays in processing the forms.

Where to file the application form

By email: AHR Registration at hc.ahrregistration-enregistrementpa.sc@canada.ca

Please contact the Biological Product Compliance Program at hc.bpcp-pcpb.sc@canada.ca should you have any questions or require assistance.

It is recommended that primary establishments notify the Biological Product Compliance Program as soon as possible, to allow these changes to be processed and updated on their registration in a timely manner.

Suspension

Suspension without notice

13 (1) The Minister may suspend, in whole or in part, without prior notice, a primary establishment's registration, if the Minister has reasonable grounds to believe that human health and safety or the safety of the sperm or ova has been or could be compromised.

Notice

- (2) If the Minister suspends a registration, the Minister must send a notice to the primary establishment that
 - (a) gives the reasons for the suspension and its effective date;
 - (b) indicates that the primary establishment has an opportunity to be heard; and
 - (c) if applicable, indicates that corrective action must be taken by the primary establishment and the date by which it must do so.

Action following suspension of registration

(3) On the suspension of its registration, the primary establishment must immediately notify every establishment, health professional or recipient to which it has distributed the implicated sperm or ova during the period specified in the notice of the reasons for its suspension, the effective date of the suspension and the parts of the registration that are the subject of the suspension.

Action upon notice

(4) An establishment that has been notified under subsection (3) or under this subsection must immediately notify to the same effect any establishment, health professional or recipient to which it distributed the implicated sperm or ova.

Written notice

(5) If the Minister or the establishment gives a notice verbally under this section, that notice must be confirmed in writing as soon as feasible.

If Health Canada has reasonable grounds to believe that the human health and safety or the safety of sperm or ova has been or could be compromised, Health Canada may suspend, without prior notice, a primary establishment's registration, in whole or in part.

If Health Canada suspends a primary establishment's registration, in whole or in part, Health Canada will send a notice to the primary establishment outlining the reasons for the suspension and the effective date, inform the primary establishment that it has an opportunity to be heard, and if applicable, indicate the corrective actions that must be taken and by which date.

Health Canada may suspend a portion of a registration to address specific issues or elements of a registration while not impacting all registered activities. This could include suspending in part to remove from the registration an establishment conducting activities on behalf of the primary establishment (e.g., removing a testing establishment when there are reasonable grounds to believe that the sperm or ova has been or could be compromised). This could also include removing activities in relation to one of either sperm or ova, but the other elements of the registration would still be valid (e.g., issues were identified in the processing of sperm, but not ova).

Reinstatement of registration

- 14 (1) The Minister must reinstate a registration, in whole or in part, if the primary establishment makes a request to the Minister, in the form established by the Minister, and provides evidence that demonstrates that
 - (a) the primary establishment has corrected the situation that gave rise to the suspension; or
 - (b) the situation that gave rise to the suspension did not exist.

Notice

(2) The reinstatement takes effect immediately after the Minister sends to the primary establishment a notice to that effect.

Exception — compliance history

(3) The Minister may refuse to reinstate a primary establishment's registration if its compliance history demonstrates an inability to consistently conduct its activities in accordance with these Regulations.

Partial reinstatement

(4) If the Minister does not reinstate any part of a registration that was suspended, the Minister must remove that part of the registration.

If Health Canada has suspended a registration, in whole or in part, the Safety Regulations provide a mechanism for the primary establishment to request for their registration to be reinstated. The primary establishment must provide evidence to Health Canada to demonstrate that:

- the primary establishment has corrected the situation that gave rise to the suspension (i.e., the reason for the suspension); or
- the situation that gave rise to the suspension did not warrant a suspension.

Health Canada may refuse to reinstate all or part of a primary establishment's registration if the primary establishment's compliance history indicates an inconsistency in their ability to conduct their activities in accordance with the Safety Regulations.

If the primary establishment does not demonstrate willingness or consistently refuses to implement corrective actions for non-compliance or the corrective actions fall short of rectifying the non-compliance, or has a history of recurring non-compliance, Health Canada may not reinstate the primary establishment's registration.

Cancellation

Cancellation Initiated by Primary Establishment

Cessation of activities

15 The Minister must cancel a registration if the Minister receives a notice under section 11 that the primary establishment has ceased carrying out all of the activities that are the subject of its registration.

Cancellation Initiated by Minister

Circumstances

- **16 (1)** The Minister may cancel a registration in any of the following circumstances:
 - (a) the primary establishment has not provided the annual statement that is required under section 20;
 - (b) the primary establishment has not complied with the requirements set out in section 21 to provide additional documents or information;
 - (c) any information provided by the primary establishment to the Minister in accordance with these Regulations proves to be false or misleading;
 - (d) the primary establishment fails to take corrective action, within the required period, in accordance with subsection (2) or paragraph 13(2)(c);
 - (e) the corrective action that was taken by the primary establishment in accordance with subsection (2) or paragraph 13(2)(c) has not corrected the situation that gave rise to a notice of suspension or cancellation of the registration;
 - (f) the registration has been suspended for a period of more than 12 months;
 - (g) the Minister has reasonable grounds to believe that the primary establishment does

not meet the requirements of these Regulations.

Notice

- (2) Before cancelling a registration, the Minister must send to the primary establishment a notice that
 - (a) gives the reasons for the proposed cancellation and its effective date;
 - (b) indicates that the primary establishment has an opportunity to be heard; and
 - (c) if applicable, indicates that corrective action must be taken by the primary establishment and the date by which it must do so.

Action following cancellation of registration

- 17 (1) If the registration is cancelled under section 16, the primary establishment must immediately take the following action:
 - (a) cease carrying out all of the activities that are the subject of its registration; and
 - (b) notify any establishment, health professional or recipient to which it has distributed the implicated sperm or ova during the period specified in the notice of the cancellation and the effective date.

Action upon notice

(2) An establishment that has been notified under paragraph (1)(b) or under this subsection must, in turn, immediately notify to the same effect any establishment, health professional or recipient to which it distributed the implicated sperm or ova.

Written notice

(3) If an establishment gives a notice verbally under this section, that notice must be confirmed in writing within 24 hours after it is given.

A primary establishment is not permitted to conduct any activities requiring a registration, for which its registration was cancelled. If a primary establishment intends to commence activities requiring a registration for which a registration was cancelled, it must file a new Sperm and Ova Establishment Registration Application and Notification Form.

Notification

Notice before distribution or importation

- **18 (1)** Before distributing or importing sperm or ova, an establishment must send to the Minister a notice, in the form established by the Minister, that contains the following information:
 - (a) the establishment's name, telephone number, email address, postal address and, if different from the postal address, civic address;
 - (b) in the case of an establishment that previously conducted its activities under another

name, either under these Regulations or the Processing and Distribution of Semen for Assisted Conception Regulations, that other name;

- (c) the first name, last name, telephone number and email address of a person to contact for further information concerning the notice and, if different, a person to contact in case of emergency;
- (d) a statement indicating whether the establishment proposes to distribute or import sperm or ova and the projected start date;
- (e) the civic address of the buildings in which the establishment proposes to conduct the activities, if not already provided; and
- (f) the name and registration number of each primary establishment that processes that sperm or those ova.

Signature and attestation

- (2) The notice must
 - (a) be signed and dated by a senior executive officer; and
 - (b) include an attestation from that senior executive officer of the following:
 - (i) that the establishment has evidence demonstrating that it is able to meet the requirements of these Regulations,
 - (ii) that all information submitted in support of the notice is accurate and complete, and
 - (iii) that the senior executive officer has the authority to bind the establishment.

If an establishment intends to import or distribute sperm or ova, it must submit a notification form to Health Canada. The form must be signed by a senior executive officer and must include an attestation that the establishment has evidence to demonstrate that it is able to meet the requirements of the Safety Regulations, all the information in support of the notice is accurate and complete, and the senior executive officer signing the attestation has the authority to bind the establishment notifying Health Canada. There may be cases where a primary establishment must also fill out the applicable notification section for distribution or import, within the same Sperm and Ova Establishment Registration Application and Notification form. Additional instructions are provided on the Sperm and Ova Establishment Registration Application and Notification form.

Where to find the Notification Form

The Sperm and Ova Establishment Registration Application and Notification form, along with instructions, can be obtained by sending a request to: AHR Registration at hc.ahrregistration-enregistrementpa.sc@canada.ca.

Establishments will be informed by Health Canada of the location of the form when it is available on the Health Canada website.

Where to file the Notification Form

By email: AHR Registration at hc.ahrregistration-enregistrementpa.sc@canada.ca

Please contact the Biological Product Compliance Program at hc.bpcp-pcpb.sc@canada.ca should you have any questions or require assistance.

Change or cessation

- **19 (1)** An establishment that distributes or imports sperm or ova and makes any change to the information provided under section 18, including the cessation of distribution or importation, must send to the Minister, within 30 days after the day on which the change occurs, a notice, in the form established by the Minister, that contains the following information:
 - (a) the name of the establishment, telephone number, email address, postal address and, if different from the postal address, civic address;
 - (b) the date on which the change or cessation became effective; and
 - (c) in the case of cessation, details of the disposition of the sperm or ova that are in the possession or control of the establishment.

Signature and attestation

- (2) The notice must
 - (a) be signed and dated by a senior executive officer; and
 - **(b)** include an attestation from that senior executive officer of the following:
 - (i) that the establishment has evidence, if it is still distributing or importing sperm or ova, demonstrating that it meets the requirements of these Regulations,
 - (ii) that all information submitted in support of the notice is accurate and complete, and
 - (iii) that the senior executive officer has the authority to bind the establishment.

If an establishment that has notified Health Canada under section 18 of the Safety Regulations, makes any change to the information provided, or stops any of its activities, the establishment must file these changes with the Biological Products Compliance Program using a Sperm and Ova Establishment Registration Application and Notification form, and should include an accompanying cover letter summarizing the changes. Please refer to the form for further instructions.

It is recommended that establishments notify the Biological Product Compliance Program as soon as possible, to allow changes to be processed in a timely manner.

Annual Attestation

April 1

- 20 (1) A primary establishment and any other establishment that distributes or imports sperm or ova must send to the Minister, in the form established by the Minister, an annual attestation
 - (a) on or before April 1 of the calendar year following the year of registration or the year in which the notice of distribution or importation is sent; and
 - (b) on or before April 1 of each subsequent calendar year.

Signature and attestation

- (2) The attestation must
 - (a) be signed and dated by a senior executive officer; and
 - **(b)** certify that
 - (i) the establishment has evidence demonstrating that it meets the requirements of these Regulations,
 - (ii) in the case of a primary establishment, any other establishment that processes sperm or ova on its behalf meets the requirements of these Regulations,
 - (iii) all information submitted in support of the attestation is accurate and complete, and
 - (iv) the senior executive officer has the authority to bind the establishment.

Additional documents and information

21 An establishment must provide to the Minister, on or before the date specified in the Minister's written request to that effect, any additional relevant documents or information to demonstrate that the activities it conducts are in compliance with these Regulations.

Although a primary establishment's registration, or an establishment's notification does not expire, all establishments who have registered or notified must submit an annual attestation of compliance by April 1st of each year. Establishments must submit their annual attestation of compliance using the Sperm and Ova Establishment Registration Application and Notification form. Additional instructions are provided with the form.

If a primary establishment, or an establishment that imports or distributes does not provide their annual attestation, Health Canada may cancel a registration as stated in section 16 of the Safety Regulations, or take other compliance and enforcement measures.

Donor Suitability

Regular Process

Donor Suitability Assessment and Determination

The Regular Process requirements, set out in sections 22 to 29, are intended to apply to all donor sperm and ova to be used for the purpose of AHR. However, in cases where the donor and the recipient know each other, the Directed Donation Process requirements, set out in sections 30 to 40 of the Safety Regulations, may be followed instead.

Donor sperm and ova used in AHR pose a potential risk to human health and safety because of their inherent nature to transmit infectious and genetic diseases. As such, the Regular Process for donation sets out the minimal standard requirements for assessing and determining donor suitability to minimize the risk to the health and safety of the recipient and the individual born of the donation.

All sperm and ova donors subject to the Regular Process must undergo the donor suitability assessment, and if applicable, donor reassessment, to identify any risk factors for infectious and genetic disease transmission, which could impact the safety of the sperm and ova.

In the case of a repeat donor (i.e., a sperm or ova donor who donates more than once), donor reassessment must be conducted in accordance with section 26 of the Safety Regulations, to monitor for any risk of infectious and genetic disease transmission since the initial donor suitability assessment was conducted.

A primary establishment is responsible for ensuring that the donor suitability assessment and donor reassessment is conducted in accordance with the Safety Regulations, including if it is carried out, in part or in whole, by another establishment on its behalf.

The medical director at the primary establishment must determine if the donor is suitable to donate and if the donation can be released from quarantine, in accordance with section 27 of the Safety Regulations by reviewing the information obtained from the donor suitability assessment and, if applicable, donor reassessment. The medical director must also create and sign a summary document that confirms this determination. The donation must be kept in quarantine, in accordance with section 28 of the Safety Regulations, until the medical director has determined that the donor is suitable and documented that the sperm or ova can be released from quarantine.

If the medical director at the primary establishment has determined the donor to be unsuitable or if the donor suitability assessment has not been completed, the donation cannot be released from quarantine unless it is subject to certain exceptions outlined in section 29 of the Safety Regulations.

The technical requirements for conducting the suitability assessment of sperm and ova donors are set out in the Health Canada Directive: Technical Requirements for Conducting the Suitability Assessment of Sperm and Ova Donors, which has been incorporated by reference in the Safety Regulations.

Donor suitability assessment

22 In order to determine whether a donor is suitable, a primary establishment must ensure that a donor suitability assessment is conducted.

The donor suitability assessment must be conducted and documented by the medical director or a physician or nurse practitioner designated by a medical director, and must be based on the following:

- a) Donor screening, in accordance with section 23 of the Safety Regulations;
- b) Physical examination, in accordance with section 24 of the Safety Regulations; and
- c) Donor testing, in accordance with section 25 of the Safety Regulations.

Donor screening

23 An establishment that performs donor screening must do so in accordance with the requirements set out in the Directive under the heading "Donor Screening".

Donor screening, as set out in clause 2.1 of the Directive, is intended to identify risk factors for infectious and genetic disease transmission that could impact the safety of the donation based on the donor's medical and social history as well as their clinical status.

The initial donor screening should be performed as close to the time of donation as feasible to accurately reflect the donor's risk of infectious and genetic disease transmission. In the event that more than one month has elapsed since the initial donor screening was completed and the donation has not been obtained, Health Canada recommends rescreening the donor, in order to ascertain whether any of the information has changed.

Donor screening must be conducted using a structured questionnaire, based on the applicable donor screening criteria set out in clause 2.1 of the Directive, and should be documented in the form of a checklist where the response/outcome for each criterion is recorded and followed up, as appropriate. The questionnaire must be structured in a way that collects the required information, including:

- donor's age at the time of obtaining the sperm or ova;
- infectious disease screening criteria; and
- genetic disease screening criteria.

In the case of infectious disease screening, the structured questionnaire must be prepared by the medical director or by a physician designated by the medical director. In the case of genetic disease screening, the medical director can designate a qualified health professional, such as a clinical geneticist, to prepare the structured questionnaire. Separate questionnaires for infectious and genetic disease screening may be developed and administered to collect the required information.

An establishment that conducts donor screening must develop and maintain standard operating procedures for all steps performed during the donor screening process.

Age of Donor

The donor's age at the time of obtaining the sperm or ova must be documented as this information is an important component of the summary document, which accompanies the donation, and which is meant to provide the health professional with the relevant health and safety information related to the donation.

Scientific evidence has shown that the use of sperm and ova from a donor who is above a certain age can increase the risk of an adverse reproductive outcome associated with that donation, including the risk to the health and safety of the recipient, or the individual born of that donation.

For instance, a number of studies have correlated age-related reduction in male fertility¹⁰ with lower sperm quality¹¹. The age-related reduction in sperm quality can be attributed to a number of factors including reduced sperm motility, abnormal sperm morphology, and decreased sperm concentration 12. Additionally, the use of sperm from donors who are above the age of 40 years has been correlated with increased incidence of genetic diseases 13.

In the case of ova donors, in addition to a slow but steady decline in female fertility, the risk of chromosomal abnormalities during embryonic development has been shown to increase with the age of the donor 14, 15. The most common chromosomal abnormality is trisomy 21, or Down syndrome. At 35 years of age, a female has approximately one in 365 chance of conceiving a child with Down syndrome¹⁶, and this chance gradually increases to 1 in 84 by age 40¹⁷.

Many studies have linked a female's age-related decline in fertility beyond a certain age threshold with a reduced quantity and quality of her oocytes 18, 19. Despite this, the rate of ovarian aging varies among women, as both environmental and genetic factors contribute to the depletion of a female's ovarian reserve.

Recognizing the range of factors associated with age that can influence the safety of the donation, Health Canada has not set an upper age limit for sperm and ova donors. However, the donor's age must be documented, so that the health professional can use this information to assess any relevant health and safety risks that the donor's age may pose, and inform the recipient if such risks exist in their medical opinion, prior to making use of the donation or distributing the sperm donation for personal use. It is recommended that

primary establishments should have standard operating procedures for assessing the risks associated with age, which set out an upper age limit for eligible donors.

Infectious Disease Screening

All sperm and ova donors must be screened for the risk of infectious disease transmission, based on their medical history, social history, and clinical status, using a structured questionnaire prepared by the medical director or a physician designated by the medical director. The donor screening must be conducted and documented by a medical director or a physician or nurse practitioner designated by a medical director. The structured questionnaire must at a minimum include the infectious disease screening criteria outlined in clause 2.1.1 of the Directive.

The medical director may also choose to include additional screening criteria to assess the risk of any relevant emerging infectious diseases at the time of donation. A relevant emerging disease is a disease transmissible via sperm or ova and whose incidence has increased within the last decade or threatens to increase in the near future. Emerging diseases can be caused by 1) newly identified pathogens; 2) mutated/variants of an existing pathogen; 3) pathogens with recent transfer to human host; or 4) pathogens with changes in geographic distribution.

The infectious disease screening criteria set out in clause 2.1.1 of the Directive have been organized as follows:

Clause 2.1.1 (I) and (II) (a) to (I) apply to all sperm and ova donors;

Clause 2.1.1 (II) (m) applies only to sperm donors subject to the Regular Process;

Clause 2.1.1 (II) (n) applies only to ova donors subject to the Regular Process;

Clause 2.1.1 (II) (o) applies to sperm and ova donors subject to the Directed Donation Process.

The screening criteria represent the minimum information that must be obtained to assess the donor for the risk of infectious disease transmission. The criteria are intentionally broad, to allow the medical director, or the physician designated by the medical director, to determine how best to collect the necessary information, including information to identify the risk of any emerging diseases that may be relevant at the time of screening.

The screening criteria set out in clause 2.1.1 (II) (f) requires that a donor be screened for being treated for or being diagnosed with Neisseria gonorrhoeae or Chlamydia trachomatis in the 2 months prior to donation. However, if the diagnosis and treatment occurred more than 2 months prior, evidence of successful treatment one-month post completion of treatment must be documented. Health Canada considers the Canadian Guidelines on Sexually Transmitted Infections to be an acceptable resource for providing recommendations on the interpretation of results with respect to successful treatments.

The screening criteria set out in clause 2.1.1 (II) (i) requires that a donor be screened for infections of clinical significance. An infection would be considered clinically significant if: (a) it is potentially transmissible by sperm or ova and has sufficient incidence and/or

prevalence to affect the potential donor population; (b) it is highly pathogenic to the recipient or the individual born of the donor's sperm or ova; or (c) reliable and valid screening tests for the infection are available.

The screening criteria set out in clause 2.1.1 (II) (m),(n), and (o) are specific for assessing the donor's risk for Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV), Hepatitis B Virus (HBV), Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) or Human T-cell Lymphotropic Virus (HTLV) transmission at the time of donation, including assessing the donor's social history for high risk behavior that has been correlated, based on scientific evidence, with greater prevalence and/or incidence of infection^{20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29}

Donors subject to the Regular Process who meet any of the screening criteria set out in clause 2.1.1 (II) (a) to (I), (m) and (n) must be excluded from donating, as set out in the Exclusion Criteria [clause 4(a)] of the Directive. Donors subject to the Directed Donation Process are not excluded from donating even if they meet any of the screening criteria set out in 2.1.1 (II) (a) to (I), and (o), however, a medical director must review the information obtained from the donor suitability assessment, and donor reassessment if applicable, and prepare a summary document that is used by the health professional to inform the recipient of the risks that the use of the sperm or ova in question could pose to human health and safety.

Genetic Disease Screening

Donor sperm and ova, in addition to the risk of transmitting infectious diseases, carry an inherent risk of genetic disease transmission that can have a major impact on the health and safety of individuals born of donor sperm or ova.

A genetic disease, disorder, or condition is caused by one or more mutations or abnormalities in an individual's DNA. It can be caused by mutation/s in a single gene; by a combined effect of mutations in multiple genes (known as multifactorial conditions); or it can be due to chromosomal abnormalities.

Many medical conditions such as certain types of cancer, cardiovascular diseases, or neurological diseases are considered multifactorial conditions that are caused by the interaction of multiple genes (polygenic) and a combination of various lifestyle and environmental factors. The pattern of inheritance for such multifactorial conditions is unpredictable and/or less understood, which makes it difficult to determine a person's risk of inheriting or transmitting such diseases. Similarly, diseases due to chromosomal abnormalities are usually caused by random errors in cell division during the formation of sperm or ova and thus are usually sporadic rather than hereditary in nature, although may be impacted by other factors such as a donor's age at the time of donation.

On the other hand, single-gene diseases, such as cystic fibrosis or muscular dystrophy, are caused by mutation/s in a single gene and are generally inherited in a well-known and predictable pattern of inheritance (e.g., autosomal dominant, autosomal recessive, Xlinked). For instance, a sperm or ova donor who is a carrier of a mutation in the gene responsible for cystic fibrosis, has a 25 % chance that an individual born of their donation

will be at risk for the disease if the recipient is also a carrier of that mutation, due to its autosomal recessive pattern of inheritance.

X-linked genetic diseases can be classified as X-linked dominant or X-linked recessive, based on their pattern of inheritance. X-linked recessive diseases most often affect males, given that males have one copy of the X chromosome and as such, any disease-causing mutations on that X chromosome are sufficient to cause the disease. For instance, if an ova donor is a carrier of an X-linked recessive disease such as hemophilia, they have a 50% chance that a male individual born from making use of that ovum will be affected, while a female individual will either not inherit the mutated copy of the disease-causing gene or will be a carrier of the disease. As such, if the results of donor screening reveal that an ova donor is a carrier of a serious X-linked recessive disease, additional measures may be taken to reduce the risk of disease transmission (e.g., testing the recipient to determine if they too are a carrier). On the other hand, if a sperm donor is affected by an X-linked recessive disease (e.g., Duchenne muscular dystrophy), they will only pass the mutated copy of the diseasecausing gene to all female individuals born of their donation, making them a carrier of the genetic disease.

In the case of an X-linked dominant genetic disease, only one copy of the disease-causing gene is sufficient to cause the disease. As such, if the sperm donor is affected by an X-linked dominant disease, all female individuals, but none of the male individuals, born from making use of their sperm will inherit the disease. On the other hand, if the ova donor is affected by an X-linked dominant disease, there is a 50% chance that an individual (male or female) born of their donation will inherit the disease.

Genetic Disease Screening Requirements

All sperm and ova donors must be screened for the risk of transmitting genetic diseases in accordance with clause 2.1.2 of the Directive.

The scope of the genetic disease screening requirements, as set out in the Directive, is limited to reducing the risk of transmitting serious single-gene genetic diseases that are inherited in an autosomal dominant, autosomal recessive, and X-linked pattern, through the genetic disease screening of sperm or ova donors. However, the medical director may choose to additionally, screen the donor for the risk of transmitting multifactorial conditions (e.g., certain types of cancer) or chromosomal abnormalities that could present a significant risk of transmission or that have a higher frequency in a specific population.

The term "genetic disease screening" and "genetic disease testing" have often been used interchangeably in literature. However, the Safety Regulations have been developed with a clear distinction between these two terms. The genetic screening of donors constitutes the systematic application of inquiry or gathering of information regarding a donor's medical and family genetic history to identify and assess the risk of transmitting a specific genetic disease to an individual born of their donation. This includes screening a donor for any clinical evidence of having a genetic disease or to determine the donor's potential carrier status via their family genetic history. Genetic testing on the other hand, involves

conducting a test to analyze the donor's DNA, RNA, chromosomes, proteins or metabolites for the purpose of detecting the presence of mutations or chromosomal changes in the donor that could indicate the risk of genetic disease transmission.

A donor of sperm and ova must be screened by the medical director, or by a physician or nurse practitioner designated by the medical director, for the risk of transmitting serious autosomal dominant, autosomal recessive and X-linked genetic diseases using a structured questionnaire. While conducting the genetic disease screening, the medical director should consider variation of manifestations and range of severity in the case of autosomal dominant and X-linked diseases, as the donor may not be aware that they are affected.

The medical director is responsible for developing the structured questionnaire, or they may choose to designate a qualified professional with training in medical genetics, such as a clinical geneticist or genetic counselor, to develop the genetic screening questionnaire.

The genetic disease screening must assess the donor's risk of transmitting serious genetic diseases, based on the donor's medical history and three generations of family genetic history. When conducting genetic disease screening, the results of the donor's physical examination should also be taken into consideration.

The family genetic history-based screening should include:

- three generations of the genetic history of the donor, donor's parents, and donor's offspring (if any) or donor's grandparents (if the donor doesn't have any offspring) for the presence of serious genetic diseases (a list of serious genetic diseases intended to guide donor screening has been provided below);
- three generations of the genetic history for risk factors such as intellectual disability, stillbirth, congenital anomalies or sudden death that may indicate history of a serious genetic disease; and
- three generations of the genetic history for the presence of genetic diseases more prevalent in the donor's ethnicity, if applicable (a list of serious genetic diseases prevalent in specific ethnicities and/or populations has been provided below).

Family history-based genetic disease screening plays a critical role in assessing the risk of transmitting a serious genetic disease and involves evaluating a donor based on known or suspected family history for a specific disease. A person with a family history of a genetic disease or a person from a population group in which the disease is prevalent is known to be at a significantly higher risk of being affected or being a carrier of the disease. The use of family history screening is known to increase the likelihood of detecting individuals at an increased risk for diseases with known genetic components as compared to reviewing a patient's medical records alone³⁰. A number of guidelines have been established to obtain a family genetic history that can be adapted to screen a sperm and ova donor, including

administering a family history questionnaire/checklist and the pedigree method 31, 32, 33, 34, 35.

A particular genetic disease may be more prevalent in certain ethnicities or populations due to the "founder effect." As such, in screening a donor, special consideration should be given to the single-gene genetic diseases that are prevalent in the donor's ethnic background. For example, individuals from Southeast Asia, the Mediterranean region, and Africa are at increased risk of hemoglobinopathies. Similarly, people of Ashkenazi Jewish (AJ) descent (i.e., at least one grandparent of AJ background) are known to be more prone to certain diseases such as Tay-Sachs disease (carrier frequency 1/30), Canavan disease (carrier frequency 1/37 - 1/53), and familial dysautonomia (carrier frequency 1/32)³⁶.

List of Serious Genetic Diseases

The list of serious genetic diseases provided below is meant to guide the medical director when conducting the genetic disease screening of donors.

The list, which includes serious genetic diseases that are more prevalent in the general population as well as in specific ethnicities has been informed by the latest scientific evidence and the recommendations made by national and international professional societies/associations and standards^{37, 38, 39, 40, 41}. Health Canada recognizes that there are over 3,600 human genes⁴² that have a known phenotype corresponding to one or more single gene disorder/s⁴³, and more such genes are being discovered at a rapid pace.

Health Canada intends to update the list based on scientific advances in the field of human genetics.

As part of the genetic disease screening, the medical director should screen all donors for the risk of transmission of serious genetic diseases, including:

- Cystic fibrosis;
- Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy;
- · Haemophilia A and B; and
- Spinal muscular atrophy.

In addition, the medical director should consider screening donors for the risk of transmission of serious autosomal dominant and X-linked dominant diseases with varying manifestations and range of severity (such as neurofibromatosis type 1, 22q11.2 deletion syndrome, fragile-X syndrome, and polycystic kidney disease), as donors may not be aware that they are affected.

Additionally, donors of Southeast Asian, Mediterranean, or African descent should be screened for the risk of transmission of the following hemoglobinopathies:

- Sickle cell anemia [or Sickle cell disease]; and
- Thalassemia (alpha and beta).

Donors of Ashkenazi Jewish descent should be screened for the risk of transmission of the following diseases:

- Tay-Sachs disease;
- Canavan disease;
- Familial dysautonomia;
- Gaucher disease;
- Niemann pick disease [or Niemann-Pick A];
- Fanconi anemia, type C;
- Bloom syndrome;
- Mucolipidiosis [type IV];
- Glycogen storage disease, type 1a;
- Familial hyperinsulinism;
- Maple syrup urine disease [type 1b];
- Dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase deficiency;
- Usher syndrome;
- Nemaline myopathy;
- Joubert syndrome; and
- Walker-Warburg syndrome.

Donors of the Saguenay-Lac Saint-Jean/Charlevoix region should be screened for the risk of transmission of the following diseases:

- Tyrosinemia type I;
- Congenital lactic acidosis Saguenay-Lac-Saint-Jean type;
- Spastic ataxia, Charlevoix-Saguenay type; and
- Agenesis of the corpus callosum with peripheral neuropathy.

Donors of Bas-St-Laurent (Rimouski) and Gaspésie regions in Quebec, and adjoining New Brunswick territories should be screened for the risk of transmission of the following diseases:

Tay-Sachs disease.

Donors who are of Cree ancestry should be screened for the risk of transmission of the following diseases:

- Cree encephalitis (Aicardi-Goutières syndrome); and
- Cree leukoencephalopathy.

Donors from Indigenous Manitoba populations should be screened for the risk of transmission of the following diseases:

Cerebro-oculo-facio-skeletal syndrome.

Donors of Newfoundland region should be screened for the risk of transmission of the following diseases:

- Bardet-Biedl syndrome; and
- Neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis.

Genetic Disease Testing in Lieu of Genetic Disease Screening

Although genetic testing is not required by the Safety Regulations, relevant test results, if available, can be used in lieu of donor screening to assess the donor's risk of genetic disease transmission. For example, if a donor's test results are available for cystic fibrosis, these results can be used instead of screening the donor for the risk of transmitting the same disease.

Recent technological advancements in high-throughput genotyping and sequencing allow for the testing of a large number of genetic conditions simultaneously. Expanded Carrier Screening (ECS) is one such form of genetic testing intended to detect carrier status for a broader array (> 100 diseases in most cases) of recessive diseases in a person [a donor] who, based on their family genetic history, may/may not have an a priori increased risk of being a carrier 44, 45. Thus, ECS tests for the carrier status of donors regardless of their ancestry or geographic origins.

However, it is important to note that many national and international guidelines do not recommend conducting ECS unless the risk of transmitting a specific disease has been identified first through genetic disease screening. Additionally, despite scientific and technological advances in identification, understanding, and analysis of genetic diseases, there are a number of challenges with using ECS panels, including false positive results, ambiguous test results, over diagnosis or incidental findings; all of which should be taken into consideration when assessing the donor's risk of genetic disease transmission through the use of ECS.

Assessment of Risk

The medical director or a qualified professional designated by the medical director must assess the donor for the risk of genetic disease transmission, based on the donor's genetic disease screening, or their relevant genetic testing if available in lieu of screening, or both.

In assessing the risk, the medical director should take into consideration the information obtained from the donor's medical history, physical examination, and three generations of family genetic history that would indicate an increased risk of genetic disease transmission. Consideration should also be given to additional risk factors, such as:

- multiple affected family members with the same or related disease;
- pattern of inheritance (e.g., the affected sex and any relevant implications);

- onset of the disease (e.g., earlier onset than typically expected may demonstrate genetic predisposition of the donor to a specific disease);
- reduced penetrance, variable expressivity, and genetic variants, which are known to influence the effects of a particular genetic disease (e.g., many genetic diseases show variable expressivity by which, based on specific mutations in the diseaseassociated gene, a particular disease could present a range of signs and symptoms, or may have reduced penetrance by which not every person carrying a particular genetic mutation would exhibit signs and symptoms of the genetic disease);
- any relevant results of donor testing, if available;
- limitations of the information gained from the donor's genetic disease screening, or their relevant genetic testing if available in lieu of screening, or both.

The assessment of the risk of genetic disease transmission must be included in the summary document that accompanies the donation. In addition to reducing the risk of genetic disease transmission, the assessment of risk, as it relates to third party donors, aims to provide the recipient with the necessary information in the event they may wish to seek genetic counselling based on their own genetic history and unique risk factors.

If the donor's genetic disease screening indicates a risk of serious genetic disease transmission, Health Canada recommends that relevant follow up testing be conducted to rule out any risk of disease transmission. The medical director may also want to consider recommending follow up testing for any serious genetic diseases prevalent in the donor's ethnic background.

Health Canada recognizes that there may be cases where a donor may not know the three generations of their family history (e.g., if they were adopted). In such instances, Health Canada recommends that a donor undergo relevant genetic testing, to assess the risk of transmitting serious genetic diseases based on the donor's own medical history, physical examination, and ethnic background, if known. However, if testing is not conducted and the information related to the donor's family history is incomplete, the medical director should consider the lack of this information when assessing and documenting the risk of serious genetic disease transmission.

Physical examination

24 An establishment that performs physical examinations on donors must do so in accordance with the requirements set out in the Directive under the heading "Physical Examination".

A medical director or, a physician or nurse practitioner designated by the medical director, is responsible for performing a physical examination to assess any physical evidence that

could indicate the presence or symptom/s of an infectious or genetic disease. For example, a potential donor subject to the Regular Process requirements whose physical examination reveals evidence of active genital herpes would be unsuitable to donate.

Based on the donor medical history, social history, and clinical status assessed through the donor screening questionnaire, a more tailored physical examination should be performed to confirm or rule out any potential risk factors that may have been identified during the donor screening.

Health Canada recommends that the initial physical examination be performed as close to the time of donation as feasible. In the event that more than one month (but not more than six months) has elapsed since the initial physical examination was completed and the sperm or ova has not been obtained, Health Canada recommends reviewing the donor's initial screening and physical examination results to determine if, based on clinical judgement, a new physical examination should be performed. If more than six months have elapsed since the initial physical examination was completed, the donor must undergo a new physical examination.

Donor testing

25 An establishment that performs donor testing must do so in accordance with the requirements set out in the Directive under the heading "Donor Testing".

A primary establishment must ensure that all infectious disease testing, including testing which is carried out on its behalf by another establishment, is carried out in accordance with the requirements outlined in clause 2.3 of the Directive.

Donor testing is intended to identify the risks of infectious disease transmission by testing the donor for the presence of infectious disease agents that could impact the safety of the sperm or ova. All sperm and ova donors must be tested for the infectious disease agents set out in clause 2.3.3 of the Directive. In addition, sperm donors subject to the Regular Process requirements, but not those subject to the Directed Donation Process requirements, must be retested in accordance with clause 2.3.4 of the Directive, to determine if they are suitable to donate.

General Requirements

An establishment that performs donor testing must:

- have standard operating procedures that describe all tests to be performed and the handling of positive and indeterminate test results;
- use appropriate and effective tests;
- ensure that donor testing is conducted by a laboratory that meets the applicable accreditation requirements of the province in which the laboratory is located, or if donor testing was conducted in another country, the testing laboratory is accredited

- by an organization that is considered an acceptable accreditation organization by the foreign jurisdiction where the donor testing was conducted;
- perform donor testing using in vitro diagnostic devices that are licensed in Canada, if the testing is carried out in Canada, or if the testing is performed outside of Canada, using in vitro diagnostic devices licensed in either Canada or the United States;
- conduct donor testing in accordance with the test kit manufacturer's instructions, including the requirements for specimen collection, performance and the interpretation of results;
- at the time of initial donor testing or at any time prior to the release of sperm and ova from quarantine, test all sperm and ova donors to determine their blood type (i.e., ABO group and Rh type).

Infectious Disease Agents

At the time of initial testing, all sperm and ova donors must be tested for the presence of the following infectious disease agents, as listed in clause 2.3.3 of the Directive:

- a) Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) -1 and -2;
- b) Hepatitis C Virus (HCV);
- c) Hepatitis B Virus (HBV);
- d) Human T-cell Lymphotropic Virus (HTLV) -1 and -2 (sperm donor only);
- e) *Treponema pallidum* (syphilis);
- f) Cytomegalovirus (CMV) (sperm donor only);
- g) West Nile Virus (WNV), if the donation is made during the time of year when WNV is potentially transmissible to humans in the donor's country of residence, or if in the preceding 56 days, a donor has lived in or travelled to an area where WNV is endemic;
- h) Chlamydia trachomatis; and
- i) Neisseria gonorrhoeae.

Please note that ova donors are not required to be tested for HTLV-1 and -2 and CMV.

Appropriate and Effective Tests

A test is considered appropriate and effective if it is:

- licensed for the detection of the infectious disease agent or marker;
- used in accordance with the test kit manufacturer's instructions; and
- used for the detection of an infectious disease marker that is relevant at the time testing is performed.

Health Canada considers the followings tests to be appropriate and effective infectious disease tests. This list may be revised when new infectious disease tests become licensed, or when new information necessitates an amendment.

- a) HIV using:
 - antibodies to HIV, types 1 and 2 (anti-HIV-1 and anti-HIV-2), and HIV antigen;
 - anti-HIV-1, anti-HIV-2, and nucleic acid testing (NAT) for the detection of HIV-
- b) HCV using:
 - antibodies to HCV (anti-HCV); or
 - anti-HCV and NAT for the detection of HCV (for directed donors);
- c) HBV using:
 - HBV surface antigen (HBsAg) and total antibodies to HBV core antigen (anti-HBc, IgG and IgM);
- d) HTLV-1 and HTLV-2 using:
 - serological assays for the detection of antibodies to HTLV type 1 and 2 (anti-HTLV-1 and HTLV-2);
- e) Treponema pallidum using:
 - treponemal-specific test; or
 - non-treponemal test;
- f) CMV using:
 - total antibodies to CMV (IgM and IgG);
- g) WNV using:
 - assays for the detection of WNV nucleic acid (WNV NAT);
- h) Chlamydia trachomatis using:
 - assays for the detection of *Chlamydia trachomatis* nucleic acid; and
- i) *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* using:
 - assays for the detection of Neisseria gonorrhoeae nucleic acid.

In Vitro Diagnostic Devices

All donor testing must be performed using in vitro diagnostic devices (test kits) that are licensed in Canada, if the testing is carried out in Canada, or if the testing is performed outside of Canada, using in vitro diagnostic devices that are licensed in either Canada or the United States. Health Canada is the federal regulator responsible for licensing in accordance with the Medical Devices Regulations. For more information, please consult the Medical Devices Active License Listing (MDALL) database.

In vitro diagnostic devices include test kits that are licensed for screening or for diagnostic purposes. Screening tests are based on investigational testing in a population with a low

disease prevalence, and place an emphasis on test sensitivity. In contrast, diagnostic tests are based on investigational testing often performed in a symptomatic population, with an emphasis on test specificity.

An establishment that conducts donor testing for any of the infectious disease agents listed in clause 2.3.3 of the Directive must do so using tests that are licensed for the purpose of screening donors, except in the case of Treponema pallidum, Chlamydia trachomatis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae in which case either screening or diagnostic test kits can be used. Although the use of screening tests is preferred, the Safety Regulations allow for the limited use of diagnostic tests, to account for testing carried out by establishments outside of Canada, where certain screening test kits for Treponema pallidum, Chlamydia trachomatis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae may not be licenced or available.

In cases where a licenced screening or diagnostic test is unavailable for Chlamydia trachomatis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae for the specimen being tested, the laboratory must have validation data to support the use of an alternative test method for the intended application. It is recommended that the establishment keep on file confirmation from the testing laboratory that the method has been validated.

An establishment that conducts donor testing using a licensed test kit must do so in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions, including with respect to the following:

- the collection, handling, and storage of the specimen;
- the timeframe within which the collected specimen must be tested;
- the procedure for testing; and
- the performance of the test and the interpretation of the test results.

Timeframe for Specimen Collection

The initial testing of sperm donors for the infectious disease agents set out in clause 2.3.3 of the Directive must be conducted using a specimen collected within 7 days of obtaining the donation.

In the case where a sperm donor from whom a specimen has already been collected for initial testing and for whom retesting is required in accordance with clause 2.3.4 (Donor Retesting) of the Directive, an establishment is not required to collect a new specimen at the time of each donation, unless as per the donor reassessment requirements outlined in clause 3 of the Directive.

The initial testing of ova donors for the infectious disease agents set out in clause 2.3.3, except 2.3.3 (d) and (f), of the Directive must be conducted using a specimen collected within 30 days before obtaining the ova or within seven days of obtaining the ova.

For WNV, testing of sperm and ova donors must be performed during the time of year when WNV is transmissible to humans in the donor's country of residence (i.e., seasonal basis) or, if in the preceding 56 days prior to the donation, during the time of year when WNV is not transmissible in the donor's country of residence, the donor has lived in or travelled to an area where WNV is endemic. It is up to the primary establishment to determine the

appropriate frequency of WNV testing to effectively address the risk of WNV transmission. For WNV surveillance information specific to Canada and the United States, please visit the following websites:

- West Nile virus surveillance in Canada
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (United States)

Retesting of Sperm Donors

Prior to the determination of donor suitability and the release of the donation from quarantine, all sperm donors subject to the Regular Process must be retested in accordance with clause 2.3.4 of the Directive, in order to allow for the detection of any infections that manifest after the donation has been obtained from the donor. Sperm donors must be retested for the infectious disease agents set out in clause 2.3.3 of the Directive (except for WNV, Chlamydia trachomatis, and Neisseria gonorrhoeae) using a new specimen collected from the donor after a minimum of 180 days following the date of donation. The sperm donation must remain in quarantine until the medical director has determined the donor to be suitable, based on their review of the donor suitability assessment, and reassessment if available, including the results of the initial testing and retesting.

In some cases, a donor can contract an infectious disease agent that is not detected at the time of initial testing due to the "window period" between the time of infection and the time that the infectious agent can be detected. In such instances, the 180-day period allows for the period of time needed for a specific antibody to be developed and become detectable in the blood (i.e. seroconversion). In addition to detecting window period infections, donor retesting may detect specific infectious disease markers that were not present at time of initial testing.

Sperm donors subject to the Directed Donation process, as well as ova donors subject to the Regular or the Directed Donation process are not required to be retested and as such, the use of fresh (i.e., not cryopreserved) sperm and ova is permitted in these instances.

Interpretation of Test Results

In general, the initial testing is performed using one or more tests (e.g., one or more serological tests or a combination of serological and NAT) on a single blood specimen. The terms used by test kit manufacturers for the interpretation of test results are determined in part, by the testing algorithms used.

For instance, in the case of serological testing, a nonreactive specimen is considered a negative test result and, as such, the donor may be considered suitable to donate or, if the test is conducted as part of donor retesting, the donation may be released from quarantine. In the case where a donor is tested for an infectious disease agent using more than one test, all tests must be nonreactive for a specimen to be considered negative.

In contrast, a reactive specimen obtained using serological testing, is considered initially reactive instead of positive because in such cases the same test is repeated in duplicate and the results may be considered repeatedly reactive or positive if one or both of the two

replicates are reactive. On the other hand, the results may be considered false positive or negative if both of the replicate tests are non-reactive. However, some test kit manufacturers may only consider a specimen to be positive once confirmatory or supplemental testing with a different test kit is performed to confirm the results of the first test kit.

It should be noted that screening tests are more sensitive than confirmatory tests and, as such, less likely to result in a false negative. Thus, confirmatory tests should not be used for the purpose of initial donor testing because false negative confirmatory test results cannot be ruled out.

These additional steps are necessary to achieve the final serological testing outcome (i.e., "positive" or "false positive") in the event that a specimen is initially reactive. In such cases, the donor must be determined unsuitable and the donation must not be released from quarantine, even if the confirmatory or supplemental test results are negative and the original test is deemed a false positive.

However, a sperm or ova donor who has been determined unsuitable due to a false positive test result may be determined to be suitable if the donor tests negative following an appropriate donor re-entry algorithm that typically requires testing to occur after a specific period of time to allow for possible seroconversion prior to the performance of additional follow-up testing (serological testing or serological testing and NAT). Performing follow-up testing using a new specimen collected before obtaining another donation from the donor may prevent a potentially contaminated donation from being collected and placed in the distribution chain.

It is important to note that this testing algorithm is intended to serve only as an example. There may be a different algorithm used for the interpretation of test results depending upon the type of test used for donor testing (e.g., serological testing and/or NAT) and as such, establishments must apply the specific testing algorithm proposed by each test kit manufacturer.

To ensure that a consistent interpretation of infectious test results is applied:

- 1. a negative test result means the final outcome in which the test specimen is determined to be nonreactive by the test kit manufacturer.
- 2. a positive test result means the final outcome in which the test specimen is determined to be "reactive", "repeatedly reactive" or "positive" according to the testing algorithms proposed by the test kit manufacturer.
- 3. a confirmed positive test result means the outcome of a confirmatory or supplemental test performed using a different test kit, in which the tested specimen is determined to be reactive.

Although not required by the Safety Regulations, Health Canada recommends that primary establishments responsible for donor testing archive specimens from donors for the purpose of retrospective testing when new tests are made available. Establishments that

archive specimens should have standard operating procedures for the collection, storage and the duration of storage of the archived specimens.

Donor reassessment

26 In order to determine whether a repeat donor is suitable, a primary establishment must ensure that the donor is reassessed in accordance with the requirements set out in the Directive under the heading "Donor Reassessment".

Sperm and ova donors who donate more than once, referred to as repeat donors, must be reassessed in accordance with clause 3 of the Directive. The reassessment is intended to monitor the donor's risk of infectious or genetic disease transmission during the time when the donor is actively donating or has lapsed a significant period of time since their last donation. Section 26 of the Regulations is specific to donors subject to the Regular Process for donation. The reassessment requirements for sperm and ova donors subject to Directed Donation Process are outlined in section 35 of the Regulations.

Reassessment of Sperm Donors

Repeat sperm donors who are subject to the Regular Process requirements must be screened for the risk of infectious and genetic disease transmission at least every six months, or at the time of the subsequent donation following a lapse in screening exceeding six months, in accordance with the donor screening criteria set out in clause 2.1 of the Directive. This includes screening repeat sperm donors for the risk of the relevant emerging infectious diseases. Additionally, the age of the donor at the time of the reassessment must be known and documented. In the case of genetic disease screening, an abbreviated questionnaire can be used to gather any new medical information that may have become available since the previous genetic disease screening was conducted.

Repeat sperm donors must undergo a new physical examination at least every six months or at the time of the subsequent donation following a lapse in physical examination exceeding six months, in accordance with the physical examination requirements set out in clause 2.2 of the Directive.

Repeat sperm donors must be tested for Chlamydia trachomatis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae, using a new specimen collected from the donor, at least every six months or within seven days of the subsequent donation following a lapse in testing exceeding six months, in accordance with the donor testing requirements set out in clause 2.3.1(I) to (III), (V), and (VI) of the Directive. However, an establishment conducting donor reassessment may choose to test repeat donors more frequently (e.g., every month, every three months, etc.), in order to detect new infections more quickly, given that any donations obtained between testing intervals in which infection of Chlamydia trachomatis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae cannot be ruled out, must be discarded. Additionally, testing repeat donors more frequently will reduce the risk of cross-contamination.

The donor reassessment requirements are limited to testing repeat sperm donors for Chlamydia trachomatis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae because the donor is retested for all other infectious disease agents listed in clause 2.3.3 of the Directive, except WNV, prior to their donation being released from quarantine.

The results of donor reassessment, combined with the results of donor retesting, provide the medical director with the necessary information to determine if the donor remains suitable to donate at regular intervals.

Reassessment of Ova Donors

Ova donors are less likely to donate on a repeat basis, and those who do, should do so at intervals best determined by their treating physicians. As such, repeat ova donors must be reassessed at the time of each donation, in accordance with the clause 3.2 of the Directive. This includes screening the ova donor for risk of infectious and genetic disease transmission, conducting a physical examination of the ova donor, and testing the donor for infectious disease agents set out in clause 2.3.3 (I) of the Directive. In the case of genetic disease screening of repeat ova donors, an abbreviated questionnaire can be used to gather any new medical information that may have become available since the previous genetic disease screening was conducted.

Determination of donor suitability

27 (1) A primary establishment must ensure that its medical director determines whether a donor is suitable by reviewing the information obtained from the donor suitability assessment and, if applicable, from the donor reassessment.

Donor unsuitability

- (2) A primary establishment must ensure that its medical director determines a donor to be unsuitable if
 - (a) the donor meets any criteria set out in the Directive under the heading "Donor Exclusion"; or
 - **(b)** the donor suitability assessment is not complete.

A primary establishment is responsible for ensuring that its medical director determines the suitability of sperm and ova donors by reviewing the results of donor screening, physical examination, and donor testing, including donor retesting. If applicable, the results of donor reassessment must also be reviewed by the medical director, in order to determine if the donor is suitable. Under the Regular Process, sperm and ova from donors who are determined to be unsuitable to donate must not be released from quarantine, except as outlined in section 29 of the Safety Regulations.

A donor subject to the Regular Process requirements who meets one or more of the donor exclusion criteria, set out in clause 4 of the Directive, is considered unsuitable to donate

until they no longer meet the exclusion criteria, if applicable (e.g., donor no longer meets the timeframe for being at risk of Zika virus transmission). The donor is also considered unsuitable to donate if the donor suitability assessment was not completed in accordance with the Safety Regulations. The donor exclusion criteria include:

a) A sperm or ova donor who meets any of the infectious disease screening criteria set out in clause 2.1.1 (II) (a) to (n).

A donor who meets any of the infectious disease screening criteria outlined in clause 2.1.1 (II) (a) to (n) is at an increased risk of transmitting an infectious disease to the recipient of their sperm or ova, or the individual born of their donation. For this reason, donors must be considered unsuitable to donate on the basis of these contraindications.

b) A sperm or ova donor who is symptomatic or has previously been diagnosed with a serious autosomal dominant or X-linked genetic disorder.

Based on the results of genetic screening, the medical director must determine a donor to be unsuitable to donate if the donor is either symptomatic of or has previously been diagnosed with a serious autosomal dominant or X-linked genetic disease.

In the case of an autosomal dominant or X-linked dominant disease, only one copy of the disease-associated gene in each cell is sufficient for that individual to be affected. As such, a donor who is either symptomatic of, or has been diagnosed with a serious autosomal dominant or X-linked dominant disease is at an increased risk of transmitting it to the individual born of their donation.

In the case of an autosomal recessive disease, both copies of the disease-associated gene in each cell must have mutation/s in order for that individual to be affected. As such, a donor who is a carrier of an autosomal recessive disease is not excluded from donating, as they only present a risk of genetic disease transmission if the recipient is also a carrier for the same mutation. Thus, a more comprehensive and effective risk assessment, to mitigate the risk of autosomal recessive disease transmission to the individual born of the implicated sperm or ova, should include the assessment of genetic information from both the donor and the recipient.

X-linked recessive genetic diseases most often affect males, given that they only have one copy of the X chromosome and as such, any disease-causing mutations on that X chromosome are sufficient to cause the disease. As such, an ova donor who is either symptomatic or has been diagnosed with a serious X-linked recessive disease presents a risk of transmitting the disease to all male individuals born of their donation. On the other hand, a sperm donor who is symptomatic for a X-linked recessive genetic disease will only pass the affected disease-causing gene to female individuals born of their donation, making them a carrier of the genetic disease (in some cases, such as Hemophilia A and B, a carrier of an X-linked recessive disease can also be affected and can exhibit a range of symptoms).

Given the higher risk associated with the transmission of serious X-linked recessive or Xlinked dominant genetic diseases, the medical director must exclude sperm or ova donors who have been diagnosed with or are symptomatic of a serious X-linked genetic disease.

c) With the exception of Treponema pallidum and CMV, a sperm or ova donor who tests positive for any of the infectious disease agents listed in clause 2.3.3 (I). Donations obtained between testing intervals in which infection of Chlamydia trachomatis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae cannot be ruled out shall be discarded.

A donor is considered unsuitable to donate if the donor, at the time of donor testing and if applicable, at the time of donor reassessment, tests positive for any of the infectious disease agents set out in clause 2.3.3(I) (a) to (d), and (g) to (i) of the Directive. If donor sperm or ova was obtained during a time period in which infections of Chlamydia trachomatis and Neisseria gonorrhoeae cannot be ruled out (e.g., during the time period between initial donor testing and donor reassessment), that donation must not be released from quarantine.

d) In the case of *Treponema pallidum*, a sperm or ova donor who tests positive for Treponema pallidum using the treponemal-specific test. A sperm or ova donor may be determined suitable if the non-treponemal test is negative or positive, but the treponemal-specific test is negative.

For Treponema pallidum (syphilis), a donor is considered suitable if the donor at the time of initial testing or, if applicable, at the time of donor retesting, tests positive using a nontreponemal test, but negative using a treponemal-specific confirmatory assay. It should be noted that if an establishment decides to use a treponemal-specific test for syphilis, and the donor tests positive (at the time of initial testing or if applicable, at the time of donor retesting), the donor must be determined unsuitable to donate. This is because a positive treponemal-specific test identifies both recent syphilis infections, and remote or treated syphilis infections. While a nontreponemal test can be performed to rule out a recent infection, false negative results are possible, particularly in the context of acute syphilis infection. Thus, appropriate testing algorithms need to be developed to resolve this issue.

e) In the case of CMV, a sperm donor who tests positive for CMV IgM until they become IgM negative. A sperm donor may be determined suitable if the CMV IgG test is negative or positive, but the CMV IgM test is negative.

For CMV, a sperm donor must be considered unsuitable to donate if a donor tests positive for CMV immunoglobulin M (IgM) until that donor tests negative for IgM. However, a sperm donor may be determined suitable if the CMV immunoglobulin G (IgG) test is negative or positive, but the CMV IgM test is negative. This is because a positive test for CMV IgG indicates that a donor was infected with CMV at some time during their life, but does not indicate when that donor was infected.

- f) A sperm or ova donor, who has been determined unsuitable due to a positive test result, as specified in clauses 4(c) and 4(d), may be determined to be suitable if:
 - a confirmatory or supplemental test result is negative, and
 - the donor is retested according to an appropriate donor re-entry algorithm.

A donor who tests positive for any of the infectious disease agents listed in clause 2.3.3 (I) of the Directive may be determined to be suitable to donate if a confirmatory or supplemental test result is negative and the donor is retested according to an appropriate donor re-entry algorithm.

In some cases, donors may be excluded from donating due to false positives, or infection with treatable pathogens (e.g., Chlamydia trachomatis, Neisseria gonorrhoeae, and Treponema pallidum). In the case of treatable pathogens, donor re-entry may be possible provided appropriate treatment was received (as per current National or Provincial Guidelines) and the treatment was shown to be effective through a negative test of cure.

For instance, if a donor was previously determined to be unsuitable to donate due to infection with Treponema pallidum, Chlamydia trachomatis, or Neisseria gonorrhoeae, they may be allowed to become a donor following confirmed successful treatment. In these cases, donor re-entry must follow the requirements set out in clause 2.1.1(II)(f) of the Directive.

Summary document

- (3) If a donor has been determined to be suitable, the primary establishment must ensure that its medical director creates and signs a summary document that confirms this determination and that contains
 - (a) the age of the donor;
 - (b) a statement that the donor suitability assessment and, if applicable, donor reassessment have been conducted in accordance with these Regulations; and
 - (c) the dates and results of the donor testing and the assessment of the risk of genetic disease transmission.

Once a donor has been determined to be suitable, the medical director at the primary establishment must create a signed summary document that will accompany the donation throughout the distribution chain. The purpose of the summary document is to provide the health professional, who intends to make use of the sperm or ova or distribute it to a recipient for their personal use, with sufficient information to assess any risks associated with the donation.

The summary document must contain important information about the donor, namely:

their age at the time of donation;

- a statement that the donor suitability assessment and, when applicable, the reassessment have been conducted in accordance with the Safety Regulations;
- the dates and results of all donor testing, including donor's blood group testing and donor retesting; and
- the assessment of the risk of genetic disease transmission.

Quarantine

Requirement

- **28 (1)** An establishment must quarantine all sperm and ova that it processes in the manner set out in subsection (2) until the medical director of the primary establishment that is responsible for the quarantine of that sperm and those ova has
 - (a) determined the donor to be suitable; and
 - (b) determined and documented that the sperm and ova can be released from quarantine.

Segregation

- (2) The establishment must guarantine the sperm and ova by
 - (a) clearly indicating that they are guarantined;
 - (b) segregating them from sperm and ova that are not quarantined; and
 - (c) ensuring that they are not distributed or used.

All sperm and ova must be quarantined until the medical director determines the donor to be suitable and has determined and documented that the sperm and ova can be released from quarantine. The sperm and ova required to be quarantined by an establishment must not be distributed or used.

To prevent improper release, the quarantined sperm and ova must be clearly identifiable as quarantined and kept segregated from donor sperm or ova that are not required to be quarantined. The segregation can take the form of storing the donor sperm or ova in a physically separate area designated for such use or through the use of a validated electronic segregation system (e.g., a validated computer system and barcode labeled sperm/ova containers) to prevent improper release.

Release from quarantine — exceptional access

29 (1) Despite paragraphs 28(1)(a), an establishment may release sperm or ova from quarantine if the primary establishment that is responsible for their quarantine receives a request from a health professional for exceptional access to that sperm or those ova and if one of the following conditions is met:

- (a) the recipient has previously been exposed to sperm or ova from that donor and the risk profile of the requested sperm or ova, based on the results of any part of the donor suitability assessment, is at least equivalent to the risk profile of the sperm or ova to which the recipient has previously been exposed, based on the results of any of the donor suitability assessment that was conducted at that time; or
- (b) sperm or ova from that donor have previously been used to create a child for an individual or a couple and the requested sperm or ova are to be used for the purpose of creating another child for that individual or couple.

Summary document

- (2) Before the sperm or ova are released from quarantine, the primary establishment must ensure that its medical director creates a summary document that contains the following information:
 - (a) the age of the donor, if known;
 - (b) the conditions that have been met;
 - (c) the dates and results of any donor screening, physical examination or donor testing; and
 - (d) the reasons the donor was determined to be unsuitable and a detailed explanation for each reason.

Storage

(3) An establishment and a health professional must ensure that sperm or ova that are in their possession or control and are intended for exceptional access are segregated from sperm and ova that are not intended for exceptional access.

Access to donor sperm and ova that otherwise cannot be released from quarantine (i.e., because it was not processed in accordance with the Safety Regulations or is the subject of an error, accident or adverse reaction investigation) may be permitted under a narrow range of exceptional circumstances.

The two conditions for exceptional access are:

- 1. where the recipient has previously been exposed to sperm or ova from that donor and the results of the donor suitability assessment indicate that the risk profile of the requested sperm or ova is equivalent to the risk profile* of the sperm or ova to which the recipient was previously exposed; or,
- 2. where sperm or ova from the donor will be used to create a genetic sibling for the individual or couple.

* For the purposes of the Safety Regulations, "equivalent risk profile" means that the requested donation would not pose a greater risk to human health and safety as that posed by the donation to which the donor was previously exposed. At a minimum, the donor would have to be tested for the same infectious disease agents as they were previously tested for and would have to be subjected to the same donor screening they had previously been subjected to. In addition, the results of any other tests performed in respect of the donor would have to indicate that the sperm or ova are not contaminated by an infectious disease agent and any additional screening results would have to indicate that the donor is suitable to donate.

In order for sperm or ova to be released from quarantine under exceptional access, a number of requirements must be met, such as:

- a health professional must request the sperm or ova from the primary establishment responsible for their quarantine, on behalf of the recipient. As part of the request, the health professional must indicate to the primary establishment which of the conditions for exceptional access applies;
- prior to releasing the sperm or ova under exceptional access, the primary establishment must have its medical director create a summary document that contains the information that is necessary for the health professional to meet their documentation requirements for communication of risk (outlined below) including:
 - o the age of the donor at the time of donation (if known);
 - o the conditions for exceptional access that have been met;
 - o the dates and results of any donor screening, physical examination, and donor testing;
 - o the reason(s) that the donor was determined to be unsuitable to donate as per the Donor Exclusion criteria set out in clause 4 of the Directive and a detailed explanation of each reason;
- segregated storage: establishments and health professionals must ensure that all sperm and ova released from quarantine under exceptional access is kept segregated from all other donor sperm or ova that are not intended for exceptional access;
- additional labeling requirements: a primary establishment must ensure that the immediate container of sperm or ova is accompanied by documentation that contains a statement that indicates that the donation is for exceptional access only as set out in section 50(c) of the Safety Regulations: and
- communication of risk to the recipient (as set out in section 29(4) of the Safety Regulations, described below).

Communication of risk

- (4) A health professional must meet the following requirements before making use of the sperm or ova or distributing the sperm to a recipient for their personal use:
 - (a) create a document that states that, based on the summary document and any risk mitigating measures with respect to that sperm or those ova, in their medical opinion, the use of the sperm or ova would not pose a serious risk to human health and safety; and
 - (b) create a document that states that the health professional has informed the recipient of the risks that the use of the sperm or ova could pose to human health and safety and that the health professional has obtained written consent from the recipient.

Prior to making use of sperm or ova released under exceptional access or distributing sperm to a recipient for their personal use, the health professional must document that:

- based on the information contained in the summary document and any risk mitigation measures taken (e.g., sperm washing, anti-retroviral drugs to mitigate the risk of HIV transmission etc.) with respect to the sperm or ova in question, in their medical opinion the use of the donation would not pose a serious risk to human health and safety of the recipient and the individual born of that donation; and
- they have informed the recipient of the risks that the use of the sperm or ova donation could pose, such as instances where the effectiveness of a risk mitigation measure may be very high but not absolute, and that they have obtained written consent from the recipient to make use of the sperm or ova.

Directed Donation Process

Donor Suitability Assessment and Confirmation

Application

- **30** Despite sections 22 to 29, the requirements set out in sections 31 to 40 with respect to sperm or ova that are intended for directed donation may instead be met if
 - (a) the donor and recipient know each other; and
 - (b) the health professional requests the sperm or ova from a primary establishment in the context of a directed donation.

In the case where the donor and recipient know one another, the donor sperm or ova may be processed in accordance with the Directed Donation Process requirements as set out in sections 31 to 40 of the Safety Regulations. The Directed Donation Process provides the recipient with more flexibility in selecting their donor, while still prioritizing the safety of the

donation. In order for sperm or ova to be processed via the Directed Donation Process, a health professional must request the sperm or ova from a primary establishment on behalf of the recipient.

There are some similarities in the requirements for the Regular Process and the Directed Donation Process. For example, a sperm or ova donor subject to either the Regular Process or Directed Donation Process must undergo a donor suitability assessment. The requirements that are the same for both processes have been explained under the Regular Process sections of this Guidance and will not be repeated in this section.

However, there are a number of differences between the Regular Process and the Directed Donation Process requirements that will be explained in this document, such as:

- testing requirements for sperm donors;
- reassessment of sperm donors;
- review of donor suitability assessment;
- additional labelling requirements;
- communication of risk to the recipient; and
- segregated storage requirements.

Donor suitability assessment

31 A primary establishment, in the context of a directed donation, must ensure that a donor suitability assessment is conducted.

Donor screening

32 An establishment that performs donor screening, in the context of a directed donation, must do so in accordance with the requirements set out in the Directive under the heading "Donor Screening".

Physical examination

33 An establishment that performs physical examinations on donors, in the context of a directed donation, must do so in accordance with the requirements set out in the Directive under the heading "Physical Examination".

Donor testing

34 An establishment that performs donor testing, in the context of a directed donation, must do so in accordance with the requirements set out in the Directive under the heading "Donor Testing".

Donor Screening, Physical Examination, and Donor Testing

Sperm and ova donors who are subject to the Directed Donation Process (henceforth known as directed donors) must undergo a donor suitability assessment, including:

- donor screening as set out in clause 2.1 and 2.1.1 (I), (II) (a) to (I) and (o) of the Directive;
- physical examination as set out in clause 2.2 of the Directive; and
- donor testing as set out in clause 2.3 of the Directive, except for clause 2.3.4 (donor retesting).

The donor screening, physical examination and donor testing requirements described for the Regular Process (as part of section 23-25 of the Safety Regulations), also apply to directed donors, except where specified otherwise.

Under the Directed Donation Process directed sperm donors are not required to be retested for infectious disease agents (i.e., at minimum a 180 days following the donation) and the use of fresh sperm is allowed. However, revised donor screening criteria have been included to account for certain risks that may be associated with the use of fresh sperm. For example, directed donors are screened for use of antiretroviral medications for prevention of HIV infection (including medications for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) or postexposure prophylaxis (PEP)) within the preceding 4 months. In the rare event that an individual acquires HIV infection despite taking PrEP or PEP, these medications can delay detection of HIV infection.

It is important to note that a directed sperm or ova donor is not determined unsuitable to donate even if their screening, testing or physical examination results would have excluded them from donating under the Regular Process as per the donor exclusion requirements set out in clause 4 of the Directive. Instead, the medical director must review and document the results of the donor suitability assessment, including the results of donor screening and testing, and this information must accompany the donation so that any risk identified can be communicated to the recipient.

Donor reassessment

35 A primary establishment, in the context of a directed donation, must ensure that a repeat donor is reassessed in accordance with the requirements set out in the Directive under the heading "Donor Reassessment".

Repeat donors who are subject to the Directed Donation Process requirements must undergo donor reassessment, including donor screening, physical examination, and donor testing in accordance with clause 3.1.4 to 3.1.6 (for sperm donors) and 3.2 (for ova donors) of the Directive.

Reassessment of Sperm Donors

Repeat sperm donors must be screened at the time of each donation, in accordance with the requirements set out in clauses 2.1 of the Directive. Any increase to the risk profile as a result of donor screening must be followed up by appropriate donor testing, using specimen collected within seven days of the donation, in accordance with the requirements set out in

clause 2.3.1(I) to (III), (V), and (VI) of the Directive. For example, if during the screening the donor was identified to have been treated for Chlamydia trachomatis since their last donation, they must be tested using an appropriate and effective test to establish evidence of successful treatment prior to their subsequent donation.

An abbreviated questionnaire can be used to screen a directed sperm donor for the risk of genetic or infectious disease transmission, in order to reassess the donor based on any new medical information that may have become available since the previous screening was conducted.

A physical examination of a repeat sperm donor must be conducted at least every six months or at the time of the subsequent donation following a lapse in physical examination exceeding six months, in accordance with the physical examination requirements set out in clause 2.2 of the Directive.

Repeat sperm donors must undergo donor testing for infectious disease agents set out in clause 2.3.3 (I) at least every three months or within seven days of the subsequent donation following a lapse in testing exceeding three months, in accordance with the requirements set out in clause 2.3.1(I) to (III), (V), and (VI) of the Directive.

Reassessment of Ova Donors

Repeat ova donors are required to undergo donor screening, a physical examination and donor testing at the time of each donation as set out in clause 3.1 of the Directive. An abbreviated questionnaire can be used to screen a directed ova donor for the risk of genetic or infectious disease transmission, in order to reassess the donor based on any new medical information that may have become available since the previous screening was conducted.

Review by primary establishment

36 (1) A primary establishment, in the context of a directed donation, must ensure that its medical director reviews the information obtained from the donor suitability assessment and, if applicable, the donor reassessment.

Summary document

- (2) A primary establishment must ensure that its medical director creates and signs a summary document that confirms the review and that contains
 - (a) the age of the donor;
 - (b) a statement that the donor suitability assessment and, if applicable, donor reassessment have been conducted in accordance with these Regulations;
 - (c) the dates and results of the donor testing and the assessment of the risk of genetic disease transmission; and
 - (d) a list of any criteria set out in the Directive under the heading "Donor Exclusion" that have been met.

Unlike a donor subject to the Regular Process requirements, a directed sperm or ova donor is not excluded based on the donor suitability assessment results. Instead, the medical director at the primary establishment must review the information gathered from the donor suitability assessment and, if applicable, donor reassessment. This includes a review of information obtained from screening the donor for risk of infectious and genetic disease transmission as well as the results of donor's physical examination and donor testing.

Upon reviewing the information, the medical director must create a signed summary document that confirms the review and sets out important information about the donor for review by the health professional who intends to make use of the sperm or ova, including:

- the age of the donor at the time of donation;
- the dates and test results of all donor testing;
- the risk assessment of genetic disease transmission; and
- any reasons that the donor would have been determined to be unsuitable to donate as per the Donor Exclusion criteria set out in clause 4 of the Directive, if applicable. For example, if a directed donor is at risk of transmitting an infectious disease based on the screening criteria set out in clause 2.1.1 (II) (a) to (I) and (o), that information must be included in the summary document.

Donor suitability assessment cannot be conducted

- **37 (1)** Despite sections 31, 35, and 36, a primary establishment, in the context of a directed donation, must ensure that its medical director meets the requirements set out in subsection (2) if
 - (a) a donation of sperm or ova has previously been obtained from the donor;
 - (b) the donor suitability assessment in respect of the donation was not conducted in accordance with these Regulations; and
 - (c) it is not medically possible to obtain another donation of sperm or ova from the donor or obtaining another donation of sperm or ova would pose a serious risk to the donor.

Requirements – medical director

- (2) The medical director must meet the following requirements:
 - (a) review any available medical information about the donor;
 - (b) review any available results of any donor screening, physical examination or donor testing that was previously conducted;
 - (c) unless it is not medically possible to do so, take appropriate measures to complete

the donor suitability assessment; and

- (d) create and sign a summary document that confirms the medical director's review and that contains:
 - (i) the age of the donor,
 - (ii) the medical reasons for which another donation cannot be obtained or an explanation of the risk,
 - (iii) the dates and results of any donor screening, physical examination or donor testing,
 - (iv) a list of any criteria set out in the Directive under the heading "Donor Exclusion" that have been met, and
 - (v) a list of any parts of the donor suitability assessment that have not been conducted and, for each one, an explanation of the reasons it was not conducted.

Health Canada recognizes that there may be specific scenarios under the Directed Donation Process where it may not be possible to conduct the suitability assessment of a sperm or ova donor in accordance with the Safety Regulations. The Safety Regulations were designed to account for such scenarios in order to provide Canadians with more flexibility in pursuing their family-building needs, while still prioritizing the safety of the donation. This section of the Safety Regulations sets out requirements for cases where the sperm or ova has already been obtained but the donor suitability assessment was not conducted in accordance with the Safety Regulations and where it is not medically possible to obtain another donation of sperm or ova from the donor or obtaining another donation of sperm or ova would pose a serious risk to the donor.

Example Scenarios

A woman cryopreserves her ova for family building purposes. A complete donor suitability assessment is not conducted at the time of cryopreservation because the Safety Regulations do not apply to such a scenario. The woman fulfills her own reproductive needs and has excess cryopreserved ova that she would like to donate to a friend.

Similarly, a cancer patient cryopreserves his sperm prior to undergoing treatment under the premise that it would be for "personal use" (i.e. meant for the use of the donor's eventual spouse, common-law partner or sexual partner) and as a result, does not undergo a donor suitability assessment in accordance with the Safety Regulations. Later on, the patient decides to seek the help of a surrogate mother to create his family but it is not medically possible for him to obtain a fresh sperm sample and as a result, he must make use of the sample obtained previously for personal use.

In such cases, the Primary Establishment must ensure the sperm previously obtained was obtained, prepared, identified, preserved, quality assessed/tested, labelled, quarantined, and stored in accordance with the Safety Regulations.

In addition, the medical director at the primary establishment must review any existing medical information about the donor and any available results of donor screening, physical examination, and donor testing that might have been previously conducted. Unless it is not medically possible to do so (e.g., if the donor is deceased), the medical director must take appropriate measures to complete the donor suitability assessment retroactively. The purpose of obtaining retroactive donor suitability assessment results is to assist the health professional who intends to make use of the sperm or ova in assessing the risk the donation poses to the recipient and the individual born of the donation.

Finally, the medical director must create a summary document that confirms the review and sets out important information about the donor for review by the health professional who intends to make use of the sperm or ova or distribute the sperm to a recipient for their personal use. The summary document must contain the following information:

- the age of the donor at the time of donation;
- the medical reasons for which another donation cannot be obtained or an explanation of how obtaining another donation would pose a serious risk to the donor;
- the dates and results of any donor screening, physical examination or donor testing that is either conducted retroactively or that may have been conducted at the time of donation;
- a list of any donor exclusion criteria (as set out in clause 4 of the Directive) that the directed donor meets; and
- a list of any parts of the donor suitability assessment that have not been conducted as per the clause 2 of the Directive and the reasons it was not conducted.

Quarantine

Requirement

38 An establishment that processes sperm or ova in the context of directed donation must quarantine that sperm or ova until the medical director of the primary establishment that is responsible for the guarantine of that sperm and those ova has

- (a) confirmed the review of the donor suitability assessment, and if applicable, the donor reassessment; and
- (b) determined and documented that the sperm and ova can be released from quarantine.

Under the Directed Donation Process, donor sperm and ova must be guarantined until the medical director of the primary establishment that is responsible for the quarantine of the donor sperm or ova has confirmed the review of the information obtained through donor suitability assessment and has determined and documented that the sperm and ova can be released from quarantine. In cases where the donor suitability was not conducted in accordance with the Safety Regulations, the medical director must confirm the review of any existing medical information about the donor and any available results of donor screening, physical examination, and donor testing that might have been previously conducted as well as any results of the donor suitability assessment completed retroactively, and must determine and document that based on their review, the sperm or ova can be released from quarantine.

Storage

39 An establishment and a health professional must ensure that sperm or ova that are in their possession or control and are intended for directed donation are segregated from sperm and ova that are not intended for directed donation.

After the release of directed donations from quarantine, an establishment or a health professional must ensure that the sperm or ova intended for directed donation is kept segregated from sperm or ova not intended for directed donation throughout the distribution chain. The segregated storage for the directed sperm or ova donations is meant to prevent the risk of contamination and cross-contamination. Segregated storage of sperm or ova may be accomplished in a variety of ways, including storing sperm or ova in a physically separate area designated for such use or through the use of a validated electronic segregation system (e.g., a validated computer system and barcode labeled sperm/ova containers).

Communication of Risk

Before distributing or making use

- **40** A health professional must meet the following requirements, in the context of directed donation, before making use of sperm or ova or distributing sperm to a recipient for their personal use:
 - (a) create a document that states that, based on the summary document and any risk mitigating measures with respect to that sperm or those ova, in their medical opinion, the use of the sperm or those ova would not pose a serious risk to human health and safety; and
 - (b) create a document that states that the health professional has informed the recipient of the risks that the use of the sperm or ova could pose to human health and

safety and that the health professional has obtained written consent from the recipient.

Prior to making use of a directed donation of sperm or ova or distributing it to a recipient for their personal use, the health professional must document that:

- based on the information contained in the summary document and any risk mitigation measures taken (e.g., sperm washing, anti-retroviral drugs to mitigate the risk of HIV transmission) with respect to the sperm or ova in question, in their medical opinion the use of the donation would not pose a serious risk to human health and safety of the recipient and the individual born of that donation; and
- they have informed the recipient of the risks that the use of the directed sperm or ova donation could pose, such as instances where the effectiveness of a risk mitigation measure may be very high but not absolute, and that they have obtained written consent from the recipient to make use of the sperm or ova.

Quality Management

Risk reduction

- 41 An establishment that conducts an activity must do so in such a way as to reduce the risks to human health and safety and the safety of sperm or ova by having appropriate quality management measures, including the taking of measures
 - (a) to prevent contamination or cross-contamination;
 - (b) to prevent the transmission of an infectious disease; and
 - (c) to maintain the quality of the sperm or ova.

Quality management is a wide ranging concept. Establishments must have appropriate quality management measures in place to ensure that they conduct their activities in a way that reduces the risks to human health and safety and the safety of sperm and ova. Establishments must ensure that appropriate quality management measures are in place, including measures to:

- prevent contamination or cross-contamination;
- prevent the transmission of an infectious disease; and
- maintain the quality of the sperm or ova.

Quality Management System

Organizational structure

42 An establishment must have an organizational structure that sets out the responsibility of management for all activities that it conducts and all measures that it takes in order to meet the requirements related to quality management.

Components of system

- **43** An establishment must, with respect to the activities that it conducts and the measures that it takes in order to meet the requirements related to quality management, establish and maintain a quality management system that includes the following components and must name an individual to be responsible for that system:
 - (a) standard operating procedures;
 - (b) a process control program that includes a system for verifying and validating any change to a process;
 - (c) a system that allows for process improvement and that includes complaint monitoring and the implementation of corrective and preventative actions including recalls; and
 - (d) a document control and records management system.

Establishments must have a comprehensive quality management system in relation to the processing, distributing or importing activities they conduct. This includes establishments that are conducting processing activities on behalf of a primary establishment. For example, establishments that are conducting donor testing on behalf of a primary establishment must have a quality management system in relation to donor testing.

To ensure compliance, the quality management system of a primary establishment should include oversight of all other establishments that conduct regulated activities on their behalf to ensure they are meeting the requirements of the Safety Regulations.

The quality management system is an integrated system that is aimed at reducing the risks to human health and safety or the safety of sperm and ova. The quality management system must be defined, documented, implemented and maintained by the establishment. For example, a way to define and document the system is to have a quality manual or equivalent documentation that contains a description of the system, including the management responsibilities.

The quality management system must include:

- standard operating procedures for all the activities the establishment conducts;
- a process control program that includes a system to ensure that any changes made to a process are verified and validated;

- a system that allows for process improvement that includes complaint monitoring and elements that enable the prevention, detection, and correction of deficiencies that may compromise human health and safety or the safety of sperm and ova, including recalls; and
- a document control and records management system to ensure that written policies, processes and procedures that cover the regulated activities are available and communicated to all relevant personnel.

The establishment must appoint an individual responsible for the quality management system and ensure that quality objectives are met. The individual responsible for the quality management system may delegate duties to qualified personnel in accordance with section 53 of the Safety Regulations, but remains accountable for those delegated duties and responsibilities.

Standard operating procedures

Establishments must have standard operating procedures for all of the regulated activities they conduct under the Safety Regulations. Standard operating procedures are an essential element to quality management that is composed of instructions that set out the processes for an establishment to follow in conducting its activities. Standard operating procedures provide personnel with instructions or directions, so that activities are performed and documented consistently and in compliance with the regulatory requirements.

An establishment must develop and maintain written standard operating procedures describing the significant steps for each regulated activity that it conducts. For example, an establishment must have standard operating procedures in place to outline the process to manage equipment, supplies, and/or services used in any regulated activity under the Safety Regulations.

Process Control Program

Establishments must have a process control program that covers their regulated activities and must ensure that all activities are conducted under controlled and defined conditions, according to written procedures prepared by qualified personnel. A process control program must demonstrate that processes and activities are capable of achieving planned results and predetermined specifications with a high degree of assurance (e.g., testing).

As part of the process control program, a change control system must be established and maintained to identify, document, review, approve and control all processes. Any changes to the processes, supplies, equipment and facilities that may impact human health and safety or the safety of sperm and ova must be properly documented, validated, thoroughly evaluated, approved, and managed.

A validation plan could include testing methods, equipment to be used, standard operating procedures, acceptance criteria, and supporting documentation. Alternatively, establishments can use established procedures or processes that are in standards developed by recognized professional organizations, based on established practice, or that are supported by information available in scientific literature.

The need for revalidation must be assessed when changes are made to a validated process. Depending on the nature and extent of the changes, a revalidation may be necessary. For example, changes that could affect the original validation, process characteristics, and/or human health and safety or the safety of sperm and ova will require revalidation.

Documentation must be maintained for both the initial validation as well as any revalidation that is completed.

System for Process Improvement

Establishments must have a system for process improvement that includes complaint monitoring and the implementation of corrective and preventative actions. Corrective actions focus on eliminating causes of existing nonconformities in order to prevent recurrence whereas preventative actions focus on eliminating the potential causes of nonconformities in order to prevent occurrence.

Establishments must have policies, processes, and operating procedures for the handling of complaints. All complaints must be reviewed, assessed by the appropriate department, documented, and investigated in accordance with the establishment's operating procedures, including identifying and implementing corrective and preventative actions, as applicable. This could include recalls. All decisions and follow-up actions, taken as a result of a complaint investigation, must be documented.

As part of the establishment's system for process improvement, if preventative action is required, it must be implemented and monitored to reduce the likelihood of recurrence and to take advantage of the opportunity for improvement. Once corrective and/or preventative actions are implemented, the effectiveness of these actions must be monitored and evaluated.

Recalls are an effective method of removing non-compliant sperm or ova that may represent a risk to human health and safety. Establishments must have a system to effectively conduct prompt recalls of sperm or ova. This system, at a minimum, must include the following elements:

- operating procedures to define steps for an effective removal of any nonconformant sperm or ova from distribution or use, including identifying the roles and responsibilities within the establishment for the following activities:
 - (i) obtaining information on the implicated sperm or ova;
 - (ii) initiating the recall; and
 - (iii) reviewing distribution records necessary for recall coordination;
- distribution records to allow for the prompt identification and location of the implicated sperm or ova; and
- effectiveness checks to verify that all required establishments or health professionals have received the notification about the recall and have taken

appropriate action. Methods for contacting them can include personal visits or telephone calls, followed by written confirmation.

Document Control and Records Management System

Establishments must define, document, and maintain standard operating procedures to control all quality documents and information relevant to the activities they conduct with respect to the Safety Regulations.

The distribution and maintenance of operating procedures and other quality documents e.g., policies, forms, etc., must be controlled, such that only the current versions are available for use. Previous and obsolete versions of quality documents must be removed, archived, and replaced with the current approved version. A copy of every version of the operating procedures that was implemented must be retained in accordance with subsection 78(3) of the Safety Regulations.

Standard Operating Procedures

- **44 (1)** The standard operating procedures must meet the following requirements:
 - (a) they are in a standardized format;
 - (b) they are approved by the individual responsible for the quality management system;
 - (c) they are easily accessible at each location where the relevant activities are conducted;
 - (d) all changes to them are approved by the individual responsible for the quality management system before they are implemented; and
 - (e) they are kept up-to-date.

Review of procedures

- (2) An establishment must review its standard operating procedures every two years or after either of the following events and every two years after that event:
 - (a) following any amendment to these Regulations; and
 - (b) when a deficiency in the standard operating procedures is revealed as a result of an investigation into an error, accident or adverse reaction or as a result of an internal audit.

Internal Audit

45 An establishment must establish and maintain an internal audit system for quality management purposes and must carry out an internal audit every two years of the activities that it conducts to ensure that those activities comply with these Regulations and with its standard operating procedures, to be carried out by a person who is qualified to do so and who does not have direct responsibility for the activities being audited.

Standard Operating Procedures

Establishments must have standard operating procedures for all of the regulated activities they conduct under the Safety Regulations.

An acceptable format for an operating procedure includes the following elements:

- the title and purpose of the procedure;
- a unique number or code identifying the document and indicating the version;
- the date of implementation;
- the signature of the authorizing person and the date of authorization;
- appropriate page numbers;
- clear instructions to be followed that correspond to the tasks required to perform the activity and may include worksheets, forms or electronic fields to be completed;
- the responsible department for performing the operating procedure; and,
- references to publications cited, if applicable.

Standard operating procedures must be kept up-to-date. The procedures must be reviewed every two years, or after any amendments to the Safety Regulations or when a deficiency is identified in a standard operating procedure as a result of a routine inspection or as a result of an investigation into an error, accident, adverse reaction, or an internal audit.

All personnel responsible for carrying out a procedure must be trained prior to performing any tasks associated with a new or revised operating procedure. Operating procedures must be accessible at each location, where the individuals are conducting the activities.

In an urgent situation, a deviation from a current operating procedure is allowed if permitted by a senior executive officer, or designate, and the deviation is documented, signed, and dated. The reason for the deviation from the procedure must also be documented.

As set out in paragraph 43(d), the distribution and maintenance of operating procedures and other quality documents e.g., policies, forms, etc., must be controlled, such that only the current versions are available for use. Previous and obsolete versions of quality documents must be removed, archived, and replaced with the current approved version. A copy of every version of the operating procedures that was implemented must be retained in accordance with subsection 78(3) of the Safety Regulations.

Internal Audits

Establishments must perform an internal audit every two years on all regulated activities they conduct to verify those activities comply with the Safety Regulations and the establishment's standard operating procedures. The internal audit must include an assessment of all regulated activities to ensure that the activities are conducted:

- consistently, and in a manner that achieves planned results and predetermined specifications with a high degree of assurance;
- in compliance with the requirements of the Safety Regulations; and
- in accordance with the establishment's standard operating procedures.

The internal audit must be conducted in accordance with established policies, processes, and standard operating procedures. Audits can be performed by trained personnel within the establishment who are not directly responsible for the activities being audited or by an external auditor (qualified third party) who is performing an audit on behalf of the establishment and is knowledgeable in the subject matter being audited.

A primary establishment must ensure that they audit the activities being conducted by another establishment on their behalf to ensure that they are meeting the requirements of the Safety Regulations. Some ways a primary establishment can ensure that an establishment that is conducting activities on their behalf is in compliance with the Safety Regulations is to:

- conduct an audit of the activities themselves (e.g., onsite at the establishment, paper assessment, review standard operating procedures);
- review and assess results of audits conducted by the establishment; or
- review and assess audit reports from a third-party that are provided by that other establishment itself.

It is important to note that establishments that perform activities on behalf of the primary establishment are also subject to the requirement to conduct an internal audit. Therefore, if a laboratory is conducting donor testing for a primary establishment, then the laboratory must perform an audit to ensure its regulated activities are meeting the Safety Regulations and its operating procedures. Acceptable ways an establishment can audit its activities include:

- conduct the audit themselves;
- have the primary establishment conduct the audit, and review the primary establishment's audit report; or
- have a third party conduct an audit and review that audit report.

Primary establishments should have agreements in place with establishments conducting activities on their behalf and should include the requirement for an establishment to update the primary establishment on any significant changes or compliance issues identified by the establishment, or by other means (e.g., other regulatory bodies).

The findings from audits and follow up actions required must be documented and reviewed by management as well as the individual responsible for the quality management system. Preventative and corrective actions must be implemented in a timely manner. Establishments must retain records of audits, including the preventative and corrective

actions in accordance with the requirements for records set out in subsection 77(1) of the Safety Regulations.

Tracing and Identifying

Tracing system

46 An establishment must establish and maintain a system for tracing sperm and ova.

Donor identification code

47 A primary establishment must ensure that a donor identification code is assigned to each donor.

Donation code

48 A primary establishment must ensure that a donation code is assigned to each donation of sperm and ova that indicates the date of the donation and links the donation to the donor.

Establishments are required to have a system in place for tracing sperm and ova throughout the distribution chain that enables the tracking of sperm and ova from:

- the donor to the consignee or recipient; and
- the recipient to the consignee or donor.

As part of this system, establishments must keep accurate records, using the unique identification codes of the donor and specific donation in order to ensure that all sperm or ova can be traced to support any recalls, errors, accidents, adverse reactions, and investigations.

The ability to effectively trace sperm and ova throughout the distribution chain is key to protecting the health and safety of Canadians. As they are at the head of the distribution chain, the primary establishment has the responsibility for ensuring that the foundational elements of an effective tracing scheme are established.

The primary establishment is responsible for assigning a unique donor identification code to each donor, which will allow for the donor to be identified no matter where an individual donation may be in the distribution chain.

The primary establishment is also responsible for assigning a donation code to each donation. The donation code must make a link between the donor identification code and the date of donation. This allows for more targeted tracing, if the situation requires it (e.g., in the event of an adverse reaction).

Labelling and Storing

Establishment that labels

- **49** An establishment that labels an immediate container of sperm or ova must
 - (a) establish and maintain a labelling control system; and
 - (b) ensure that the donor identification code and the donation code appear on the label in a clear and indelible manner.

Label verification - primary establishment

- **50** A primary establishment must ensure that the immediate container of sperm or ova is already labelled in accordance with the requirements of paragraph 49(b) and that it is accompanied by documentation that contains the following documents and information in English or French before distributing or making use of the sperm or ova:
 - (a) the donor identification code and the donation code;
 - (b) the type of content, whether sperm or ova, unless this information already appears on the label of the immediate container;
 - (c) in the case of exceptional access, a statement that indicates that the donation is for exceptional access only;
 - (d) in the case of a directed donation, a statement that indicates that the donation is for directed donation only;
 - (e) the name of the primary establishment, its registration number and contact information;
 - (f) a copy of any summary document; and
 - (g) instructions for the handling and storage of the sperm or ova.

Another key component of an effective tracing scheme is labelling. The regulatory requirements for labeling were designed to reflect that it may not always be the primary establishment that labels the immediate container of sperm or ova. For example, an ova bank that is a primary establishment may use a separate medical facility to retrieve the ova from the donor. In this case, that facility would be an establishment conducing activities on behalf of the primary establishment. It may be the case that after obtaining, preparing, and preserving the ova, the facility also labels the immediate container prior to shipping the container to the primary establishment for long-term storage (prior to its distribution or use).

This section requires any establishment that labels to ensure that the donor identification code and the donation code appear on the label in a clear and indelible manner. While the Safety Regulations are not prescriptive about the mechanism by which this occurs, where the establishment that labels is not the primary establishment, some communication

between the two parties will be required to enable the establishment to fulfill its obligations, given that it is the responsibility of the primary establishment to assign the donor identification and donation codes.

This section also requires the primary establishment to ensure that the immediate container of sperm and ova are properly labeled and are accompanied by the required documentation prior to distributing or making use of the sperm and ova.

Containers

- 51 (1) An establishment that distributes, imports or makes use of sperm or ova must
 - (a) verify the integrity of the immediate containers and the shipping containers as well as the accuracy and legibility of their labels; and
 - (b) ensure that the documentation that accompanies the immediate containers contains the following information in English or French:
 - (i) the donor identification code and the donation code,
 - (ii) the type of content, whether sperm or ova, unless this information already appears on the label of the immediate container,
 - (iii) in the case of exceptional access, a statement that indicates that the donation is for exceptional access only,
 - (iv) in the case of a directed donation, a statement that indicates that the donation is for directed donation only,
 - (v) the name of the primary establishment, its registration number and contact information,
 - (vi) a copy of any summary document, and
 - (vii) instructions for the handling and storage of the sperm or ova.

The immediate container is the innermost package that contains the sperm or ova, and the shipping container is the outermost package in which the sperm or ova is delivered or transported.

An establishment that distributes, imports, or makes use of sperm or ova must examine the immediate container and shipping container for damage, and any evidence of contamination or tampering or mislabeling. When any defect, improper labelling or abnormal appearance is observed, the sperm or ova must be immediately quarantined until an investigation is completed under the error and accident requirements, as set out in section 60 to 68 of the Safety Regulations.

An establishment that distributes, imports or makes use of sperm or ova must ensure that the appropriate documentation accompanies the sperm or ova, and includes all of the information set out in paragraph 51 (1) (b) of the Safety Regulations.

An establishment must have procedures in place to ensure the integrity of the sperm or ova it receives has been maintained. This process must be defined in the establishment's standard operating procedures and may include the following documented evidence:

- that the sperm and ova was maintained under appropriate conditions;
- that the integrity of the packaging material and the labels were not compromised;
- that there was no evidence of contamination or tampering; and
- that the unopened sperm and ova package was free of damage.

Shipping

- (2) An establishment that ships sperm or ova must
 - (a) establish and maintain shipping standards
 - (b) verify the integrity of the immediate containers and the shipping containers before shipping as well as the accuracy and legibility of their labels; and
 - (c) use shipping containers that are capable of resisting damage, maintaining the safety of the sperm or ova and maintaining adequate environmental conditions during shipping.

Establishments that ship sperm and ova must establish and maintain shipping standards, including the appropriate environmental conditions for shipping sperm and ova that must be defined in a standard operating procedure. They also must ensure the labels are legible and accurate prior to shipping. When specified, controls for temperature, light, etc. must be in place. Documentation that the sperm and ova were maintained under the appropriate environmental conditions must be kept and available upon request.

An establishment that ships sperm or ova must ensure they use shipping containers that are appropriate for both maintaining environmental conditions and resisting damage during shipping. The shipping standards need to ensure that the manner in which sperm or ova is shipped will:

- maintain the appropriate environmental conditions during transportation in order to protect the safety of the sperm or ova. The appropriate environmental conditions are to be consistent with the instructions that accompany the sperm or ova; and
- protect the sperm or ova from any tampering, damage, or contamination that could affect the safety of the sperm or ova.

An establishment must have documented evidence that the packaging materials used are capable of maintaining the integrity of the sperm and ova. The documented evidence must be available upon request. Evidence could consist of specification sheets, certificates of analysis (COAs), or manufacturer's package inserts describing the packaging material.

The packaging materials must also be compatible with the sperm and ova in order to prevent any interactions which may cause the package to degrade or chemicals from the packaging to be absorbed by the sperm and ova. Only packaging materials assessed and released by the person responsible for the quality management system, or by a designated alternate, must be used in the packaging of sperm and ova. Any changes in the packaging materials must be approved prior to use. Materials that are outdated or rejected should be adequately segregated until their disposal, which should be recorded. All packaging materials must be visually examined for damage before being used.

Storage

52 An establishment that stores sperm or ova must establish and maintain standards for acceptable storage temperature ranges and ensure that sperm and ova are stored at a temperature within that range.

Sperm and ova must be stored according to the instructions and documentation that accompany the sperm and ova. Establishments that are storing sperm or ova must ensure that sperm or ova are stored at appropriate environmental conditions that maintain the appropriate temperature range.

Documentation showing that the sperm or ova were maintained under the appropriate environmental conditions must be retained.

Procedures describing the actions to be taken in the event of deviations from established criteria must be written, and such events must be appropriately documented and investigated.

Personnel, Facilities, Equipment and Supplies

Qualified personnel

53 In order to conduct its activities, an establishment must

- (a) have sufficient personnel who are qualified by their education, training or experience to perform their respective tasks; and
- (b) establish and maintain a program for the initial and ongoing training of personnel and for evaluating their competency.

All personnel performing, or responsible for regulated activities, must be qualified in accordance with the establishment's policies, and have the necessary combination of education training, and/or experience. Personnel should be aware of the Safety Regulations and their responsibilities to comply with the applicable requirements.

An establishment must prepare and maintain a current organizational chart with clear delineation of lines of responsibility as set out in section 42 of the Safety Regulations. Establishments will need to ensure that staff meets the qualifications necessary to conduct their respective tasks.

A sufficient number of personnel must be available to perform the tasks required. Lack of sufficient personnel or underqualified staff may increase the risk of errors and accidents.

Establishments must have a documented training program as well as a formal competencyevaluation program. Personnel must receive initial and ongoing training appropriate to their job responsibilities related to activities regulated under the Safety Regulations, as defined in their standard operating procedures.

The training must:

- include initial and ongoing training, including remedial and retraining as appropriate for their duties;
- include training for all activities carried out with respect to sperm and ova; and
- be provided by qualified personnel who have knowledge with regard to the functions involved.

Training must be provided prior to the initiation of job duties or performing the tasks outlined in a new procedure or any revision of an existing procedure. Training must be documented and must include information necessary to verify that individuals have been trained prior to the conduct of the activities. For example, training records will need to include details such as name of the personnel, the date of the training and name of the trainer.

An establishment must have and maintain a program for the evaluation of the competency of personnel. The elements of a competency program may include, but are not limited to:

- direct observation of performance;
- monitoring or recording;
- written tests;
- assessment of knowledge of operating procedures and theory; and
- for personnel who normally perform the routine testing, assessment of performance through proficiency tests.

Records of the qualifications, training, and continuing competency of individuals must be maintained as set out in subsection 78(2) of the Safety Regulations.

Facilities

54 The facilities in which an establishment conducts its activities must be constructed and maintained in a manner that allows for the following:

- (a) the carrying out of its activities;
- (b) the cleaning, maintaining and disinfecting of the facilities in a way that prevents contamination and cross-contamination; and
- (c) controlled access to all areas where its activities are conducted.

Environmental control system

55 An establishment must

- (a) establish and maintain a system for controlling and monitoring appropriate environmental conditions for all facilities and areas in which activities are conducted; and
- (b) periodically inspect those systems in order to verify that the systems function properly and must take any necessary corrective action.

Program – procurement and maintenance

56 An establishment must establish and maintain a program for procuring and maintaining all critical equipment, supplies and services.

Facilities

Facilities must be located, designed, constructed, and adapted to suit the activities to be conducted. Their design and furnishing must minimize the risks of errors and accidents and the potential for contamination or cross-contamination. Facilities must allow for effective decontamination and to prevent cross-contamination during the movement of personnel and materials between different areas.

Facilities must control access to all areas where its activities are conducted, as appropriate, and where products and samples are stored. Establishments must ensure the products that are used for the cleaning, maintaining and disinfection are appropriate to prevent the contamination and cross-contamination in all areas where activities are conducted.

Environmental Control System

Establishments must have a system for controlling and monitoring appropriate environmental conditions and must monitor the system to ensure the established environmental parameters are maintained. Establishments must have environmental monitoring procedures, which should include acceptable limits for all environmental parameters. When values are found to be outside of the acceptable limits, then corrective actions must be taken and may require relocation of the sperm or ova or temporarily discontinue those specified activities.

All sperm and ova must be stored under defined and controlled environmental conditions. The appropriate environmental conditions for storing sperm and ova must be defined in standard operating procedures. Documentation that the sperm and ova were maintained under the appropriate environmental conditions must be kept and available upon request.

Environmental parameters for storage, such as temperature and humidity, must be controlled and monitored using calibrated monitoring devices. The documented evidence of the monitoring of these parameters must be maintained. Temperature monitoring probes or devices should be located at points that represent extreme temperature areas, as determined by a temperature mapping study, if applicable. Where necessary, the building should be equipped with an appropriate HVAC (heating, ventilation, and air conditioning) system to maintain temperature and air flow control.

If the storage area has an environmental alarm system with audible signals, alarm activation points should be set at temperatures that allow time for appropriate corrective actions to be taken before the sperm and ova reach unacceptable temperatures. The alarm warning should signal in a location that is continually monitored or staffed so that corrective action can be taken in a timely manner.

There must be written procedures describing the actions to be taken in the event of deviations from established storage criteria. Such an event must be appropriately investigated and documented.

Access to storage areas must be restricted to designated personnel. Where physical quarantine areas are used, they must be marked appropriately, with access restricted to designated personnel. Additionally, where electronic quarantine is used, electronic access must be restricted to designated personnel.

Program – Procurement and Maintenance

Establishments must have a program to identify, document, and track all critical equipment, supplies, and services. The term critical applies to equipment, supplies and services used in any activities that are regulated under the Safety Regulations. Critical, in respect of equipment, supplies, and services means that the equipment, supply, or service could, if it does not meet its specifications, compromise human health and safety or the safety of sperm or ova. Examples of critical equipment, supplies and services include, but are not limited to, those that are used in the collection of sperm and ova, the testing of sperm and ova, and storage. Within this system, each piece of equipment must have a unique identifier. A barcode system is one example of this type of system.

Written specifications must be available for all critical equipment, supplies, and services. Establishments must have defined processes and ensure that in the event of any changes to regulatory requirements or technology, the specifications continue to meet the applicable requirements of the Safety Regulations.

In cases where the specifications are not met, an establishment must have a system in place to ensure prompt effective remedial action, which could include the timely reporting of complaints, deviations or product defects to their supplier or service provider.

Critical equipment must consistently meet its specifications in order to ensure the safety of sperm and ova. Establishments must have a preventive maintenance program to keep the function of all critical equipment within required performance specifications.

The preventive maintenance program must:

- have defined processes that includes a predetermined schedule of maintenance to verify that the performance and calibration of each piece of equipment meets the specifications identified in the manufacturer's manual and/or the specifications required by the establishment's quality system.
- include the methodology used, frequency of calibration, and action to be taken when equipment performance deviates from defined limits. This requirement applies to all equipment, instruments and measuring devices critical to ensuring that sperm and ova conform to the requirements in the Safety Regulations.

Preventive maintenance must be conducted by qualified personnel. The preventive maintenance schedule must be maintained and all records and reports of maintenance services, including the actual test results indicating that equipment is qualified and calibrated according to the manufacturer's instructions must be retained for 10 years as per subsection 78(1). Sections 57 and 58 of the Safety Regulations describe the requirements for the equipment and supplies.

Equipment — general requirements

57 An establishment must ensure that the critical equipment that it uses is cleaned and maintained and that, whenever applicable, it is

- (a) qualified for its intended purpose;
- (b) calibrated;
- (c) disinfected or sterilized before each use; and
- (d) requalified or recalibrated, as appropriate, after any repair or change is made to it that results in a change to its specifications.

All critical equipment must be cleaned and maintained in accordance with standard operating procedures and schedules based on the manufacturer's instructions and qualification results and with the purpose to prevent contamination or cross-contamination. The equipment must be located in areas that enable the required cleaning and maintenance to be conducted.

The cleaning, disinfection, and/or sterilization procedure must be done before each use to reduce the risk of contamination and cross-contamination.

Equipment must be qualified and calibrated according to the manufacturer's instructions, to ensure that it consistently operates within established specifications.

Storage equipment should have an automated alarm system with audible signals for monitoring the required environmental conditions. If the storage area has an alarm system with audible signals, alarm activations points should be set at temperatures that allow time for appropriate corrective actions before the sperm or ova reach unacceptable temperatures. The alarm warning should signal in a location that is continually monitored or staffed so that corrective action can be taken immediately.

If equipment has been repaired, moved, or modified, then re-calibration and/or revalidation must be conducted in accordance with the establishment's standard operating procedures and/or the manufacturer's manual before further use. In addition, where appropriate, measures should be taken to prevent unintended adjustments on the equipment or instrument that may impact its calibration settings.

All qualification, calibration, maintenance, and repair activities, including actual results are to be documented and retained by the establishment as outlined in sections 77 and 78 of the Safety Regulations.

If an establishment uses electronic equipment for regulated activities (e.g., a computer system), it must be validated. There must be processes and procedures in place to support the maintenance, security and integrity of computer systems and their data. Controls must be in place to limit access to the computer system data to ensure unauthorized changes are not made to software or data.

An establishment's program for the validation of computer systems should have a system acceptance test to address the following points:

- system functionality; (a)
- (b) system performance;
- critical parameters; and (c)
- (d) operating procedures.

The tests must ensure that the computer operates as indicated and meets the user requirements.

Data of a critical computer system must be backed up periodically and securely stored for data recovery. Computer validation records must be maintained and used as a reference for any system updates, changes and data recovery in case of system failures. Evidence must be presented that the equipment is performing to its specifications prior to the return to its regular use.

Any modifications, repairs, and system updates to critical equipment must be assessed to re-validate the equipment.

Supplies

58 An establishment must ensure that the critical supplies that it uses are qualified or validated, as applicable, for their intended use and that they are stored under appropriate environmental conditions.

Critical supplies must be qualified or validated, as applicable, prior to being made available for use in conducting an activity. Making supplies available to be used must be based upon established specifications and may include visual examination, lot specific release, and review of certificates of analysis. Only supplies that meet the documented requirements must be used.

The conditions of use and storage of each supply must meet the conditions specified by the manufacturer. The expiry dates of supplies and ongoing storage conditions must be strictly observed. Any critical supplies not meeting the required specifications must not be used, or made available for use, in regulated activities.

Errors and Accidents

The regulatory requirements for errors and accidents, including investigations, reporting, and record keeping, apply to all establishments and health professionals regulated under the Safety Regulations. The requirements with respect to the handling of errors and accidents are set out in section 59 to 68 of the Safety Regulations.

Under the Safety Regulations, an error is a deviation from the standard operating procedures or applicable laws that could compromise human health and safety or the safety of sperm or ova. An accident is an unexpected event that is not attributed to a deviation from the standard operating procedures or applicable laws, that could compromise human health and safety or the safety of sperm or ova.

Notifications are essential to the error and accident requirements. Establishments and health professionals may suspect that an error or accident occurred during an activity that they conducted, or during an activity conducted by another establishment, or health professional, and therefore, it is critical that all involved establishments and health professionals communicate and follow the applicable requirements (e.g., investigation and reporting) to ensure that all affected parties are aware of the error or accident and any results of investigation.

All establishments must have standard operating procedures in place to ensure that errors and accidents are addressed and handled in accordance with the requirements set out in section 59 to 68 of the Safety Regulations.

The Safety Regulations are not meant to regulate or monitor the practice of medicine. Any issues identified that are not within the scope of federal jurisdiction will be referred to the appropriate regulatory authority.

For some examples of errors or accidents, please see the scenarios listed in the guidance provided under sections 67 and 68.

System – investigation by establishment

59 An establishment must establish and maintain a system that allows for the identification, investigation and reporting of errors and accidents.

Establishments must have defined processes and standard operating procedures to identify, gather information and address any errors and accidents that occur. The standard operating procedures must include the steps to conduct an investigation and the implementation of corrective actions, as appropriate.

In the course of an investigation, non-conformances may be identified and corrective actions required. The type and extent of corrective actions is dependent upon the severity and nature of the non-conformance.

For example, recalls are an effective method of removing non-compliant sperm or ova that may represent a risk to human health and safety. As outlined in paragraph 43(c) of the Safety Regulations, establishments must have a system to effectively conduct prompt recalls of sperm or ova.

The standard operating procedures should also outline the communication methods (e.g., fax, email) to be used to notify establishments or health professionals in the event of an error or accident. The standard operating procedures must also include the reporting requirements for errors and accidents to Health Canada, as set out in sections 67 and 68 of the Safety Regulations.

Establishments must document all recalls and retain the documentation as per the requirements for records set out in section 77 to 85 of the Safety Regulations.

Error or accident by another establishment

- **60 (1)** An establishment and a health professional that have reasonable grounds to believe that an error or accident by another establishment has occurred during the processing, distributing or importing of that sperm or those ova must immediately
 - (a) determine the donor identification codes and donation codes of the implicated sperm or ova;
 - (b) quarantine any implicated sperm or ova that are in their possession or control;
 - (c) notify the following:
 - (i) the establishment from which they received the implicated sperm or ova, and
 - (ii) in the case of an establishment, every establishment, health professional or

recipient to which it distributed the implicated sperm or ova; and

(d) in the case of a primary establishment that has reasonable grounds to believe that the error or accident occurred during the processing of sperm and ova conducted on its behalf, initiate an investigation into the suspected error or accident.

Contents of notice

- (2) The notice must include the following information:
 - (a) the donor identification code and the donation code associated with the implicated sperm or ova; and
 - **(b)** the reason for the belief that an error or accident has occurred.

Action upon notice

- (3) An establishment or health professional that is notified under subparagraph (1)(c)(ii) or under this subsection must immediately
 - (a) quarantine all implicated sperm or ova in its possession or control; and
 - (b) in the case of an establishment, notify to the same effect every establishment, health professional and recipient to which it distributed the implicated sperm or ova.

Written notice

(4) If an establishment or a health professional gives a notice verbally under this section, that notice must be confirmed in writing within 24 hours after it is given.

Establishment or health professional — own error or accident

- **61 (1)** An establishment and a health professional that have reasonable grounds to believe that an error or accident has occurred during the processing, distributing or importing of that sperm or those ova that they conducted must immediately
 - (a) determine the donor identification codes and the donation codes of the implicated sperm or ova;
 - (b) quarantine any implicated sperm or ova that are in their possession and control; and
 - (c) subject to subsection (2), initiate an investigation into the suspected error or accident.

Exception

- (2) An establishment that conducts a processing activity on behalf of a primary establishment that has or previously had in its possession or control any implicated sperm or ova can request that the primary establishment conduct the investigation by providing a notice to them that contains the following information:
 - (a) the donor identification codes and donation codes of all implicated sperm or ova; and

(b) the reason for the belief that an error or accident has occurred.

Notice of investigation

- **62 (1)** An establishment that initiates an investigation must immediately notify either the primary establishment that has in its possession or control any implicated sperm or ova and on whose behalf the processing activity was conducted or every establishment, health professional or recipient to which it distributed implicated sperm or ova and must include the following information in the notice:
 - (a) the donor identification codes and donation codes of all implicated sperm or ova; and
 - (b) a description of the suspected error or accident and an explanation of how human health and safety or the safety of the sperm or ova might have been compromised.

Action upon notice

- (2) An establishment or health professional that is notified under subsection (1) or under this subsection must immediately
 - (a) quarantine all implicated sperm or ova in its possession or control; and
 - (b) in the case of an establishment, notify to the same effect every establishment, health professional or recipient to which it distributed implicated sperm or ova.

Written notice

(3) If an establishment or a health professional gives a notice verbally under this section, the notice must be confirmed in writing within 24 hours after it is given.

An establishment and a health professional that has reasonable grounds to believe that an error or accident by another establishment has occurred during processing, distributing or importing must immediately follow the actions set out in subsection 60(1) of the Safety Regulations. The establishment and health professional must identify and quarantine any sperm or ova implicated in the error or accident and notify all relevant establishments that are set out in paragraph 60(1)(c) without delay.

In addition to meeting the requirements in paragraphs 60(1)(a)-(c), a primary establishment that has reasonable grounds to believe that an error or accident has occurred during an activity that is conducted on their behalf, must also immediately initiate an investigation into the suspected error or accident.

The notice under subsection 60(2) must include the donation code and donor identification code that is associated with the implicated sperm or ova and must include information regarding why they believe that an error or accident has occurred.

An establishment or a health professional that receives a notice under paragraph 60(1)(c) of the Safety Regulations must immediately quarantine all of the implicated sperm or ova in their possession, as per subsection 60(3). Furthermore, in the case of an establishment,

they must notify every establishment, health professional or recipient to which it distributed the implicated sperm or ova. Section 61 of the Safety Regulations applies to situations where establishments (including primary establishments) and health professionals who have reasonable grounds to believe that an error or accident occurred during an activity that they conducted, or to establishments that receive a notice that an error or accident may have occurred at their establishment. Health professionals are required to follow section 61 of the Safety Regulations, when there are reasonable grounds to believe an error or accident occurred during an activity they conducted.

Upon receipt of a notice under paragraph 60(1)(c), or when an establishment or health professional has reasonable grounds to believe that an error or accident occurred during an activity they conducted, the establishment must immediately determine the donor identification and donation codes of the implicated sperm or ova and whether any other sperm or ova may be implicated in the same error or accident (e.g., other donations from the same donor). The establishment or health professional must also quarantine any implicated sperm or ova in their possession and control and initiate an investigation into the error or accident. However, in the case of an establishment conducting an activity on behalf of a primary establishment, they may request the primary establishment to conduct the investigation on their behalf as per subsection 61(2).

A primary establishment must always conduct an investigation into a suspected error or accident whether the error or accident occurred during an activity they conducted, or at an establishment conducting activities on their behalf as per paragraph 60(1)(d).

An establishment that is conducting processing activities on behalf of a primary establishment that has reasonable grounds to believe that an error or accident has occurred may elect to initiate an investigation into the suspected error or accident itself. As per subsection 62(1), establishments that initiate an investigation must notify either:

- all primary establishments on whose behalf they are conducting activities; or
- every establishment, health professional or recipient to whom they distributed the implicated sperm or ova.

Alternatively, subsection 612(2) allows establishments conducting processing activities on behalf of a primary establishment to conduct the investigation on their behalf. To make such a request, the establishment must provide a notice to the primary establishment that contains the donor identification code and donation codes of all implicated sperm or ova and the reason for the belief that an error or accident has occurred. Furthermore, upon request from the primary establishment, the establishment conducting processing activities on its behalf must provide any relevant documents or information in its possession in respect of the implicated sperm or ova.

All establishments must have standard operating procedures in place to define how errors and accidents will be handled.

In all cases, if a notice is given verbally, a written notice must follow within 24 hours of the verbal notice.

Requirement to cooperate

63 An establishment and a health professional must, on request, provide to any establishment or health professional that is conducting an investigation any relevant documents or information in its possession in respect of implicated sperm or ova.

Establishments and health professionals must cooperate with any establishment or health professional that is conducting an investigation into a suspected error or accident, and provide any relevant documents or information in its possession in respect to the implicated sperm or ova, as requested. This information includes, but is not limited to, an inventory list of implicated sperm or ova with their disposition (e.g., distributed, inseminated, etc.) and the names of the establishments, health professionals, or recipients to which the implicated sperm or ova has been distributed.

Establishments conducting activities on behalf of a primary establishment must provide the primary establishment with all relevant information or documents required, in order for the primary establishment to thoroughly investigate the error or accident.

It is critical that all involved parties communicate to ensure that the affected establishments or health professionals receive relevant information regarding the investigation.

Results of investigation

64 (1) An establishment that conducts an investigation must notify in writing either the primary establishment that has in its possession or control any implicated sperm or ova and whose behalf the processing activity was conducted or every establishment, health professional or recipient to which it distributed implicated sperm or ova of the results of the investigation and of any action that is required to be taken.

Action on receipt of notice

(2) An establishment that receives a notice under subsection (1) or a copy of such a notice under this subsection must send a copy of the notice to every establishment, health professional or recipient to which it distributed implicated sperm or ova.

The establishment conducting the investigation must have mechanisms in place to communicate with all establishments, health professionals, or recipients that may have had sperm or ova in their possession, in a timely and accurate manner.

An establishment that conducted an investigation into a suspected error or accident must notify, in writing, all of the establishments, health professionals or recipients that were previously notified under subsection 62(1) of the Safety Regulations, of the results of the investigation. Where it has been determined the safety of sperm or ova has not been

compromised, the establishment or health professional may make recommendations with regards to the disposition of the implicated sperm or ova.

Where the results of the investigation show that the sperm or ova may be compromised, the implicated sperm or ova must remain in quarantine, and must not be distributed or used, unless the establishment or health professional responsible for their quarantine receives a request for exceptional access from a health professional and one of the conditions set out in subsection 66(1) of the Safety Regulations has been met.

Establishments that distributed implicated sperm or ova, subject to an investigation, to a recipient for their own personal use, must notify them of the results of the investigation. Patient notification by a health professional is not within the scope of the Safety Regulations.

Release from quarantine

65 An establishment or health professional that quarantines implicated sperm or ova must continue to do so until the results of the investigation reveal that the safety of the implicated sperm or ova is not compromised.

Implicated sperm or ova that are subject to an error or accident investigation must remain in quarantine until the investigation results determine that the safety of the sperm or ova has not been compromised.

Release from quarantine — exceptional access

- **66 (1)** Despite section 65, an establishment and a health professional may release sperm or ova from quarantine if the establishment or health professional that is responsible for their quarantine receives a request from a health professional for exceptional access to that sperm or those ova and if one of the following conditions is met:
 - (a) the recipient has previously been exposed to sperm or ova from that donor and the risk profile of the requested sperm or ova, based on the results of any part of the donor suitability assessment is at least equivalent to the risk profile of the sperm or ova to which the recipient has previously been exposed, based on the results of any part of the donor suitability assessment that was conducted at that time; or
 - (b) sperm or ova from that donor have previously been used to create a child for an individual or a couple and the requested sperm or ova are to be used for the purpose of creating another child for that individual or couple.

Summary document

(2) Before the sperm or ova are released from quarantine, the establishment or health professional that is responsible for the quarantine must create a summary document that contains the following information:

- (a) the age of the donor, if known;
- (b) the condition that has been met;
- (c) the dates and results of any donor screening, physical examination or donor testing; and
- (d) a description of the suspected error or accident and an explanation of how human health and safety or the safety of the sperm or ova might have been compromised.

Storage

(3) An establishment and a health professional must ensure that sperm or ova that are in their possession or control and are intended for exceptional access are segregated from sperm and ova that are not intended for exceptional access.

Communication of risk

- (4) A health professional must meet the following requirements before making use of the sperm or ova or distributing the sperm to a recipient for their personal use:
 - (a) create a document that states that, based on the summary document and any risk mitigating measures with respect to that sperm or those ova, in his or her medical opinion, the use of the sperm or ova would not pose a serious risk to human health and safety; and
 - (b) create a document that states that the health professional has informed the recipient of the risks that the use of the sperm or ova could pose to human health and safety and that the health professional has obtained written consent from the recipient.

The regulations require sperm and ova under quarantine as a result of an error or accident to remain so until the results of the investigation reveal that the safety of the sperm or ova is not compromised.

The only exception to this requirement is where the establishment or health professional responsible for the quarantine receives a request for exceptional access from a Health Professional and the conditions for exceptional access are met. For more information about exceptional access, please refer to section 66 of the Safety Regulations.

Preliminary and interim reports

- 67 The establishment or health professional that conducts an investigation into a suspected error or accident that could lead to an adverse reaction must send the following reports to the Minister, in the form established by the Minister, at the following times:
 - (a) within 72 hours after the start of the investigation, a preliminary report that includes a detailed description of the suspected error or accident and any relevant information

that is available at that time; and

- (b) within 15 days after the start of the investigation and every 15 days after that until the final report is made, an interim report that contains
 - (i) any new information with respect to the suspected error or accident,
 - (ii) the progress of the investigation, and
 - (iii) any measures taken during those 15 days to mitigate further risk.

Final report

- 68 An establishment or health professional that conducts an investigation into a suspected error or accident that could lead to an adverse reaction must send, within 72 hours of completing the investigation, a detailed final report to the Minister, in the form established by the Minister, that contains the following information:
 - (a) the results of the investigation;
 - (b) any corrective action taken; and
 - (c) details concerning the disposition of the implicated sperm or ova.

Establishments or health professionals that conduct an investigation into suspected errors or accidents that could lead to an adverse reaction (i.e., an unexpected presence of an infectious disease agent or unexpected occurrence of an infectious disease in a recipient of sperm or ova or child created from that sperm or those ova) are required to send a report to Health Canada.

If the error or accident was identified after the implicated sperm or ova was released from quarantine and made available for use or distribution and the error or accident has led to, or could lead to an adverse reaction, this would be reportable under section 67 of the Safety Regulations. However, when an error or accident has been identified before the implicated sperm or ova has been released from quarantine and made available for use or distribution, this would not be considered reportable, as the error or accident could not lead to an adverse reaction.

When a suspected error or accident could lead to an adverse reaction, an establishment or health professional must submit a preliminary report to Health Canada within 72 hours after the start of the investigation. Interim reports are to be submitted within 15 days after the start of the investigation (and every 15 days after) until a final report is made as set out in section 68 of the Safety Regulations. The preliminary report must include:

- a detailed description of the suspected error or accident; and
- all available information regarding the suspected error or accident, such as:
 - the name of the infectious disease agent;
 - any risk assessments conducted;

- o number of implicated units of sperm or ova (including the number of units in inventory and number of units that have been distributed or used);
- o corrective actions taken to date (including any notifications sent to other establishments or health professionals); and
- any anticipated corrective actions.

If an establishment or health professional that makes use of sperm or ova is conducting an investigation into a suspected error or accident that was identified after the sperm or ova was made available for use, and the error or accident could lead to adverse reaction, they must send Health Canada a report in accordance with section 67 of the Safety Regulations.

A primary establishment must ensure that establishments conducting activities on their behalf that are investigating an error or accident that could lead to an adverse reaction submit the required reports to Health Canada, within the timelines set out in section 67 of the Safety Regulations. A primary establishment can report on behalf of an establishment that is conducting activities for which they are responsible for (e.g., a foreign establishment that processes sperm or ova on behalf of the primary establishment).

Establishments must have clear standard operating procedures on how error or accidents will be investigated and reported, under the Safety Regulations.

Following the preliminary report, the establishment or health professionals must provide a written update on any new information about the suspected error or accident within 15 days after the start of the investigation. The report must include information on the progress made, measures taken and any new information. It may also include root cause analysis, status of implicated sperm or ova, the number of implicated establishments or health professionals contacted, and planned corrective actions, such as conducting a recall of the implicated sperm or ova.

A recall is the removal of sperm or ova from further distribution or use of distributed sperm or ova that presents risk to human health and safety or violates the AHR Act and its associated regulations. Please note that Health Canada has the authority under section 44 of the AHR Act to take or order any person to take all reasonable measures that Health Canada considers necessary to mitigate the effects of the contravention or prevent the contravention, when Health Canada has reasonable grounds to believe the AHR Act has been or is likely to be contravened. Such measures could include ordering a recall of sperm or ova.

Not all suspected error or accidents need to be reported to Health Canada (i.e., only those that could lead to an adverse reaction need to be reported), however establishments or health professionals are still required to investigate and meet the requirements set out in section 61 of the Safety Regulations for all suspected error or accidents that could compromise human health and safety or the safety of sperm and ova.

All error or accident investigations must be documented and the documentation retained even if it was not reported as required by subsection 83(1) of the Safety Regulations.

Error and Accident Scenarios

The following scenarios are for illustrative purposes only and provides further guidance on suspected error or accidents (E/A), and whether or not they would be considered an error or accident under the Safety Regulations and if so, if they would be reportable to Health Canada.

Regardless of the scenarios provided, establishments and health professionals are still expected to assess each suspected error or accident to determine if it meets the definitions under the Safety Regulations and take required action according to the requirements.

Even though some errors or accidents are not reportable to Health Canada, establishments and health professionals must take the appropriate actions under the Error and Accident sections of the Safety Regulations, such as investigation and notification. All error and accident records must be maintained as set out in subsection 83(1) of the Safety Regulations.

Please note, some error or accidents may be identified during the course of a Health Canada inspection, and establishments must still meet the applicable error or accident requirements.

Scenario #1 (reportable E/A):

An establishment that imports notices that two tanks containing available inventory malfunctioned over the weekend and as a result sperm or ova may not have been maintained at the required storage temperature. As such, the sperm or ova could result in the transmission of a bacterial infection to the recipient. Since the implicated sperm or ova were in released inventory and could lead to an adverse reaction (i.e., bacterial infection), this would be a reportable error or accident.

Scenario #2 (reportable E/A):

A recipient of a directed sperm donation presents with a bacterial infection to the primary establishment that conducted the insemination. The primary establishment reviewed its records and found that the storage equipment had not continuously maintained the required temperature. This would be considered a reportable error because it was identified after the sperm was used and led to an adverse reaction. The adverse reaction must also be reported, and actions taken in accordance with the applicable requirements for adverse reaction investigation and reporting.

Scenario #3 (not reportable E/A):

A vial of sperm was received at a health professional's office and the label on the vial was different than the supporting documentation that accompanied the vial. The physician quarantines the vial and contacts the primary establishment. This is an error and needs to be investigated by the primary establishment. If during the investigation it is determined that the vial that was sent to the health professional was otherwise processed in accordance with the Safety Regulations (i.e., the donor suitability assessment was

appropriately conducted and revealed no risk of infectious disease transmission), it is not reportable because the error or accident could not lead to an adverse reaction.

*if the labelling error was in relation to sperm that was not properly labeled that was processed under the Directed Donation Process or was released under exceptional access, this could cause an adverse reaction since the sperm has not been processed in accordance with the requirements and is reportable to Health Canada.

Scenario #4 (not reportable E/A):

A recipient has an allergic reaction to sperm and it is suspected that this is due to the fact that the sperm was not prepared (e.g., washed) in accordance with the standard operating procedures. This is an error and needs to be investigated; however, it is not reportable because the error or accident would not lead to an adverse reaction as defined in subsection 1(1) of the Safety Regulations (e.g., unexpected presence of an infectious disease agent or unexpected occurrence of an infectious disease).

*This could also be considered an accident, if the recipient was, for example, allergic to an agent used in preparing or preserving the sperm.

Scenario #5 (not reportable E/A):

A primary establishment is made aware (after the fact) of a donor who has provided false information on their screening questionnaire regarding their genetic disease history. This is an accident and needs to be investigated; however, this is not reportable because the accident would not lead an adverse reaction, as adverse reaction is limited to the unexpected presence of an infectious disease agent or unexpected occurrence of an infectious disease.

Scenario #6 (reportable E/A):

During the primary establishment's audit of establishments conducting activities on their behalf, it was identified that the donor testing laboratory had not followed the manufacturer's instructions for infectious disease testing for the last two years. Specifically, the laboratory was not interpreting the results of infectious disease screening results in accordance with the test kit manufacturer's instructions (e.g., the results were misinterpreted as non-reactive). Some of the implicated sperm or ova were available for use in the released inventory. This is considered a reportable error as the sperm was released into inventory and the donor was reactive for an infectious disease agent and therefore could result in the transmission of an infectious disease.

Scenario #7 (reportable E/A):

During the primary establishment's audit of a foreign establishment that conducts processing activities for sperm on their behalf (including donor testing activities), it was noted that a donor had tested reactive on a screening test for Hepatitis C, but negative on confirmatory testing. The donor was accepted and his sperm was imported and made available for use in Canada. This would be considered a reportable error because the sperm had been made available and the error could lead to an adverse reaction.

Scenario #8 (reportable E/A):

A repeat sperm donor that has donated regularly over the last 2 years indicated during his last visit to the clinic that, in fact, he has been making frequent trips to Zika virus endemic areas during those 2 years. Sperm from this donor had been released. This is considered a reportable accident, because the accident was identified after the sperm was released and could lead to an adverse reaction.

Where to find the error or accident form?

The error or accident form will be available on the Health Canada website. This form is primarily designed to facilitate the submission of preliminary reports to Health Canada within 72 hours after the start of an investigation. This form should not be used for the interim or the final investigation reports, where more detailed and comprehensive information are to be reported. Although this form is recommended for preliminary reports, other formats will be accepted as long as the information under section 67 of the Safety Regulations is included. It is acknowledged that not all information may be available at the time of initial reporting and may be provided after it becomes available.

Where to submit an error or accident report?

Error or accident reports must be sent to Health Canada's Biological Product Compliance Program.

By email: hc.bpcp-pcpb.sc@canada.ca

Please contact the Biological Product Compliance Program at hc.bpcp-pcpb.sc@canada.ca should you have any questions or require assistance.

Adverse Reactions

The regulatory requirements for adverse reactions, including identification, investigation, and reporting, apply to all establishments and health professionals regulated under the Safety Regulations. The requirements with respect to the handling of adverse reactions are set out in sections 69 to 76 of the Safety Regulations.

An adverse reaction is defined in the Safety Regulations as the unexpected presence of an infectious disease agent or the unexpected occurrence of an infectious disease in a recipient of sperm or ova or an individual created from that sperm or those ova.

An establishment or health professional that has reasonable grounds to believe that an adverse reaction has occurred must, among other things, immediately quarantine any implicated sperm or ova (i.e., sperm or ova containing the same donor identification code and donation code) and notify the primary establishment responsible for processing the implicated sperm or ova without delay. In addition, if the implicated sperm or ova were imported, the importing establishment must also be notified of the suspected adverse reaction, to ensure that any other implicated sperm or ova within their possession can be quarantined without delay.

Once notified, the primary establishment is responsible for conducting an investigation into the suspected adverse reaction, as they are best positioned to review all the information

related to the processing of the implicated sperm or ova, including information used to determine donor suitability. The implicated sperm or ova must remain in quarantine until the results of the investigation reveal that its safety is not compromised, except in cases where it can be released under exceptional access, as set out in section 74 of the Safety Regulations. The primary establishment is responsible for notifying every establishment, health professional or recipient to whom it distributed the implicated sperm or ova of its investigation and the results of the investigation, and for sending a preliminary report, periodic interim reports on the status of the investigation, and a final report to Health Canada.

If the investigation reveals that an adverse reaction occurred as a result of an error or accident made by another establishment, the primary establishment must notify every establishment, health professional or recipient of the suspected error or accident as set out in the section 61 of the Safety Regulations.

System – investigation by establishment

69 An establishment must establish and maintain a system that allows for the identification, investigation and reporting of adverse reactions.

Action to be taken

- 70 (1) An establishment and a health professional that have reasonable grounds to believe that an adverse reaction has occurred must immediately
 - (a) determine the donor identification codes and donation codes of any implicated sperm or ova in their possession;
 - (b) quarantine any of the implicated sperm or ova in their possession and control; and
 - (c) notify the following:
 - (i) the primary establishment that processed the implicated sperm or ova, and
 - (ii) if the sperm or ova were imported, the establishment that imported the sperm or ova.

Contents of notice

- (2) The notice must include the following information:
 - (a) the donor identification code and the donation code of the implicated sperm or ova;
 - **(b)** a description of the adverse reaction;
 - (c) the name of any suspected infectious disease or disease agent, if known; and
 - (d) an explanation of how the safety of the implicated sperm or ova might have been compromised, if known.

Action upon notice

- (3) An establishment that is notified under subsection (1) or under this subsection must immediately
 - (a) quarantine any of the implicated sperm or ova that are in its possession or control; and
 - (b) notify to the same effect every establishment, health professional and recipient to which it distributed the implicated sperm or ova.

Written notice

(4) If an establishment or a health professional gives a notice verbally under this section, the notice must be confirmed in writing within 24 hours after it is given.

Establishments must have defined processes and standard operating procedures to identify, gather information and address adverse reactions that occur as a result of the sperm or ova. The standard operating procedures must include the steps to conduct an investigation and the actions required as set out in section 70 of the Safety Regulations. The standard operating procedures should outline the communication methods (e.g., fax, email) to be used to notify establishments in the case of an adverse reaction.

The standard operating procedures must also include the reporting requirements to Health Canada, as set out in sections 75 and 76 of the Safety Regulations.

An establishment and a health professional that has reasonable grounds to believe, that an adverse reaction has occurred in a recipient of sperm or ova or a child created from that sperm or those ova, must immediately identify and quarantine any implicated sperm or ova in their possession, and notify the primary establishment responsible for processing the implicated sperm or ova, as well as the importing establishment, if the implicated sperm or ova were imported. The notice must contain the information outlined in subsection 70(2) of the Safety Regulations, including the description of the adverse reaction, an explanation of how the safety of the implicated sperm or ova might have been compromised, as well as the donor identification code and the donation code of the implicated sperm or ova.

Based on the donor identification code and the donation code, an establishment that receives the notice of a suspected adverse reaction must immediately quarantine all of the implicated sperm or ova (e.g., any other donations from the same donor that may be at risk of transmitting an infectious disease agent) in their possession or control and must notify every establishment, health professional or recipient to which it distributed the implicated sperm or ova.

In all cases, if a notice is given verbally, a written notice outlining the required contents set out in subsection 70(2) of the Safety Regulations must follow within 24 hours of the verbal notice.

Investigation

71 (1) On receipt of a notice, a primary establishment must immediately initiate an investigation into the adverse reaction.

Requirement to cooperate

(2) An establishment and a health professional must, on request, provide to any primary establishment that is conducting an investigation any relevant documents or information in its possession in respect of implicated sperm or ova.

Results of investigation

72 (1) A primary establishment that conducts an investigation must notify in writing every establishment, health professional or recipient to which it distributed implicated sperm or ova of the results of the investigation and of any action that is required to be taken.

Action on receipt of notice

(2) An establishment that receives a notice under subsection (1) or a copy of such notice under this subsection must send a copy of the notice to every establishment, health professional or recipient to which it distributed implicated sperm or ova.

Upon receipt of the notice, the primary establishment must immediately initiate an investigation into the adverse reaction. During an investigation, the primary establishment must determine whether any other sperm or ova are compromised and the status of the implicated sperm or ova. The primary establishment should also consider whether any additional tests may be required to determine the root cause of the adverse reaction (e.g., bacteriological testing, donor testing, etc.).

Any documentation pertaining to the investigation must be retained for a period of 10 years.

Establishments, including the ones conducting processing activities on behalf of a primary establishment, as well as health professionals, must cooperate with any primary establishment that is conducting the investigation into a suspected adverse reaction, and must provide any relevant information they may possess, as requested. This information includes, but is not limited to, an inventory list of implicated sperm or ova and their disposition (e.g., distributed, used, etc.), and the names of the establishments, health professionals, or recipients to which the implicated sperm or ova has been distributed.

A primary establishment must notify in writing every establishment, health professional or recipient to which it distributed the implicated sperm or ova of the results of their investigation and outline any action that is required to be taken. Where the investigation determined that the safety of sperm or ova is not compromised, an establishment or health professional that had quarantined the implicated sperm or ova, may release it from quarantine.

Where the results of the investigation show that the sperm or ova may be compromised, the implicated sperm or ova must stay in quarantine and must not be distributed or used, unless the establishment or health professional that is responsible for their quarantine receives a request for its exceptional access from a health professional and one of the conditions set out in section 74 of the Safety Regulations are met.

An establishment that receives a notice of investigation must send a copy of it to every establishment, health professional or recipient to which it distributed implicated sperm or ova, to ensure that all parties are made aware of the outcomes of the investigation, and can take appropriate action without delay. All establishments that receive a notice must follow the directions from the primary establishment on actions to be taken.

Establishments that distributed implicated sperm or ova, subject to an investigation, to a recipient for their own personal use, must notify them of the results of the investigation. Patient notification by a health professional is not within the scope of the Safety Regulations.

Release from quarantine

73 An establishment or health professional that quarantines implicated sperm or ova must continue to do so until the results of the investigation reveal that the safety of the implicated sperm or ova is not compromised.

Implicated sperm or ova that are subject to an adverse reaction investigation must remain in quarantine until the investigation results determine that the safety of the sperm or ova has not been compromised.

Release from quarantine — exceptional access

- **74 (1)** Despite section 73, an establishment and a health professional may release sperm or ova from quarantine if the establishment or health professional that is responsible for their quarantine receives a request from a health professional for exceptional access to that sperm or those ova and if one of the following conditions is met:
 - (a) the recipient has previously been exposed to sperm or ova from that donor and the risk profile of the requested sperm or ova, based on the results of any part of the donor suitability assessment, is at least equivalent to the risk profile of the sperm or ova to which the recipient has previously been exposed, based on the results of any part of the donor suitability assessment that was conducted at that time; or
 - (b) sperm or ova from that donor have previously been used to create a child for an individual or a couple and the requested sperm or ova are to be used for the purpose of creating another child for that individual or couple.

Summary document

- (2) Before the sperm or ova are released from quarantine, the establishment or health professional that is responsible for the quarantine must create a summary document that contains the following information:
 - (a) the age of the donor, if known;
 - (b) the condition that has been met;
 - (c) the dates and results of any donor screening, physical examination or donor testing;
 - (d) a description of the adverse reaction;
 - (e) the name of any suspected infectious disease or disease agent, if known; and
 - (f) an explanation of how the safety of the implicated sperm or ova might have been compromised, if known.

Storage

(3) An establishment and a health professional must ensure that sperm or ova that are in their possession or control and are intended for exceptional access are segregated from sperm and ova that are not intended for exceptional access.

Communication of risk

- (4) A health professional must meet the following requirements before making use of the sperm or ova or distributing the sperm to a recipient for their personal use:
 - (a) create a document that states that, based on the summary document and any risk mitigating measures with respect to that sperm or those ova, in his or her medical opinion, the use of the sperm or ova would not pose a serious risk to human health and safety; and
 - (b) create a document that states that the health professional has informed the recipient of the risks that the use of the sperm or ova could pose to human health and safety and that the health professional has obtained written consent from the recipient.

Similar to the exceptional access requirements for errors and accidents, the Safety Regulations require sperm and ova that are under quarantine because of an adverse reaction to remain so until the results of the investigation reveal that the safety of the sperm or ova is not compromised.

The only exception to this requirement is where the establishment or health professional responsible for the quarantine receives a request for exceptional access from a health professional and if the conditions for exceptional access are met as set out in section 74 of the Safety Regulations.

Preliminary and interim reports

75 A primary establishment that is conducting an investigation into an adverse reaction must send the following reports to the Minister, in the form established by the Minister, at the following times:

- (a) within 72 hours after the start of the investigation, a preliminary report that includes a detailed description of the adverse reaction and any relevant information that is available at that time; and
- (b) within 15 days after the start of the investigation and every 15 days after that until the final report is made, an interim report that contains the following information,
 - (i) any new information with respect to the adverse reaction,
 - (ii) the progress of the investigation, and
 - (iii) any measures taken during those 15 days to mitigate further risk.

Final report

76 A primary establishment must send, within 72 hours of completing the investigation, a detailed final report to the Minister, in the form established by the Minister, that contains the following information:

- (a) the results of the investigation;
- (b) any corrective action taken; and
- (c) details concerning the disposition of the implicated sperm or ova.

A primary establishment that is investigating a suspected adverse reaction must submit a preliminary report to Health Canada within 72 hours after the start of the investigation that includes a detailed description of the adverse reaction and any other relevant information that is available at that time. This information should include, but is not limited to:

- the donor identification code and donation code;
- the date on which the sperm or ovum was used;
- the date and description of the adverse reaction;
- the suspected infectious disease and/or disease agent;
- the number of containers of implicated sperm or ova that have been distributed; and
- the risk mitigation measures that are required to be taken.

Following the preliminary report, the primary establishment must send an interim report to Health Canada within 15 days after the start of the investigation and every 15 days thereafter until the investigation is completed. The interim report must include the information outlined in paragraph 75(b) of the Safety Regulations, including any new

information, the progress of the investigation and any measures taken during the past 15 days to mitigate further risk. Information regarding the progress of the investigation should include relevant and updated clinical information such as laboratory findings, the status of the recipient and/or individual born of the implicated sperm or ova, root cause analysis, and any corrective actions either already taken or planned to mitigate further risks, such as conducting a recall of the implicated sperm or ova. All updated information should be clearly marked in the report. Health Canada may also request an update at any time after the preliminary report.

Once the investigation is complete, a primary establishment must send within 72 hours of completing the investigation, a detailed final report to Health Canada that contain the results of the investigation, any corrective action taken and details concerning the disposition of the implicated sperm or ova.

Primary establishments must have clear operating procedures on how adverse reactions will be investigated and reported. All adverse reactions that are investigated must be documented and records kept in accordance with section 83 of the Safety Regulations, and may be subject to review during an inspection by Health Canada.

Where to find the adverse reaction form?

A new adverse reaction form will be developed for the reporting of adverse reactions associated with sperm and ova, and will be made available on the Health Canada website. Primary establishments will be informed once the new adverse reaction form for AHR is available.

Where to submit an adverse reaction report?

Adverse reaction reports must be sent to the <u>Canada Vigilance Program</u>. The completed adverse reaction form must be faxed or mailed to Health Canada's Canada

Vigilance Program:

Canada Vigilance Program Health Product Surveillance and Epidemiology Bureau Marketed Health Products Directorate Health Products and Food Branch Health Canada Address Locator 1908C Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0K9

For questions, contact Health Canada's Canada Vigilance Program:

E-mail for enquiries: hc.canada.vigilance.sc@canada.ca (do not send reports by email)

Facsimile: 613-957-0335

Records

General

77 (1) An establishment and a health professional must keep records that contain all the documents and information required under these Regulations and all other records that demonstrate that they meet the requirements of these Regulations.

Donor identification codes and donation codes

(2) An establishment and a health professional must ensure that the donor identification code and the donation code are components of all of their records that relate to the processing, distribution, importation or making use of sperm or ova.

Retention period — general

78 (1) An establishment and a health professional must keep records for 10 years after their creation unless otherwise specified in these Regulations.

Retention period — employees

(2) An establishment must keep records containing records of the qualifications, training and competency of its employees for 10 years after the day on which an individual ceases to be an employee of the establishment.

Retention period — standard operating procedures

(3) An establishment must keep a copy of every version of its standard operating procedures for 10 years after the day on which they are superseded by a new version.

Records consist of the documents and information required under the Safety Regulations and are a critical component of quality management as they provide documented evidence of compliance. Records must be created and updated at the same time that each significant step in the processing, distribution, importation, and making use of donor sperm and ova is performed. As well, all records relating to the processing, distribution, importation, and making use of donor sperm and ova must include the donor identification code and the donation code for each unit of sperm or ova. All records must identify the person who conducted the activities and the dates of the various entries.

Processing

- **79 (1)** A primary establishment must keep records that contain the following documents and information with respect to the sperm or ova it processes:
 - (a) the donor identification code and the donation code that appear on the label of each immediate container of sperm or ova;
 - (b) the number of immediate containers on which the same donation code appears;

- (c) the type of donation, whether sperm or ova;
- (d) the date of the donation;
- (e) any documents and information with respect to the suitability of the donor;
- (f) a copy of all documentation that is required under these Regulations to accompany the immediate container of the sperm or ova; and
- (g) any information with respect to the disposition of the sperm or ova.

Establishment to cooperate

(2) An establishment that processes sperm or ova on behalf of a primary establishment must provide to the primary establishment all of the documents and information that it possesses to update the primary establishment's records.

Primary establishments must keep records of the documents and information set out in section 79 of the Safety Regulations in order to permit the tracing of donor sperm and ova throughout the distribution chain.

Where applicable, records of written agreement between the primary establishment and the establishment that obtains the sperm or ova should be maintained to provide relevant information such as roles and responsibilities of the parties involved.

In the case of a primary establishment, documentation of the request for exceptional access, where applicable, must be available in its records. Similarly, follow-up assessment and testing results of the donor are to be available in the primary establishment's records.

Processing Equipment Records

Records should be maintained for each piece of equipment that could affect the quality and the safety of the sperm or ova. These records should include, but are not limited to the following:

- identity of the equipment;
- serial number or other unique identifier;
- manufacturer's name and contact information;
- date the equipment was received, put into service, and if applicable, out of service;
- manufacturer's instructions, if available;
- equipment performance records that confirm the equipment's suitability for use, including calibration and/or verification records (which should incorporate such information as dates of tests, test results, adjustments made, acceptance criteria and frequency of checks);
- schedules of completed and anticipated maintenance activities;
- any damage, malfunction, modification or repair, of the equipment;

- out of service records;
- usage log sheet; and
- · records of recall.

The records should be readily available for the life span of the equipment. Each item of equipment should be uniquely labelled, marked or otherwise identified.

Testing Records

Primary establishments must have records which indicate that all laboratory testing of transmissible disease markers are performed in accordance with the corresponding test kit manufacturer's instructions.

The primary establishment can help ensure that the testing lab will provide the relevant testing information to them by having written agreements in place with the testing lab. The relevant information should include:

- the appropriate tests performed for each sample;
- a stipulation that the laboratory is to follow the manufacturer's instructions and perform the tests within the limits and time frames suggested by the manufacturer;
- a stipulation that the test kits used to test donors for the transmissible disease agents comply with these Regulations;
- a current test kit list and requirement for notification upon test kit changes;
- testing validation data; and
- the method of reporting results to primary establishment and an interpretation of the results.

For testing laboratories, detailed testing records, logs and other supporting documents must be readily accessible to the primary establishment, and should include the following:

- the name of the test kit;
- the lot number:
- the name, lot number, and expiry date of the solutions and reagents used;
- the expiry date;
- the name of the manufacturer; and
- records of recall, if applicable.

Critical Supplies Records

Records should be maintained for each critical supply item that is used during processing and that could affect the quality and the safety of the product. These records include, but are not limited to the following:

• identity of the supply, including type, lot number;

- manufacturer's name;
- expiration date, if applicable (obtain clarification from the manufacturer in cases where the date is unclear);
- manufacturer's instructions, if available;
- records of recall, if applicable; and
- records to demonstrate that non-disposable instruments used in the processing are cleaned, disinfected and/or sterilized to prevent contamination and crosscontamination according to written procedures.

Requirement to Cooperate

When two or more establishments are involved in activities related to processing sperm or ova, the relationship and responsibilities of each should be delineated in writing and that documentation must be maintained at each establishment.

Furthermore, an establishment that processes sperm or ova on behalf of a primary establishment must provide the primary establishment with all of the documents and information it possesses to update the primary establishment's records.

Distribution and importation

- 80 An establishment that distributes or imports sperm or ova and a health professional who distributes sperm to a recipient for their personal use must keep records that contain the following documents and information with respect to that sperm or those ova:
 - (a) the donor identification code and the donation code that appear on the label of each immediate container of sperm or ova;
 - (b) the number of immediate containers on which the same donation code appears;
 - (c) the contact information for the establishment from which the establishment or health professional received the sperm or ova, if applicable;
 - (d) a copy of all documentation that is required under these Regulations to accompany the immediate container of the sperm or ova;
 - (e) the contact information for each establishment, health professional or recipient to which the establishment or health professional distributes the sperm or ova, if applicable; and
 - (f) any information with respect to the disposition of the sperm or ova.

Establishments that distribute or import and health professionals that distribute sperm to a recipient for their personal use must keep records of the documents and information contained in this section in order to permit the tracing of donor sperm and ova throughout the distribution chain.

Making use

- 81 (1) An establishment and a health professional must keep records that contain the following documents and information with respect to the sperm or ova of which it makes use:
 - (a) the donor identification code and the donation code that appear on the label of each immediate container of sperm or ova;
 - (b) the number of immediate containers on which the same donation code appears;
 - (c) the contact information and registration number of the primary establishment that processed the sperm or ova;
 - (d) if applicable, the contact information for the establishment from which the establishment or health professional received the sperm or ova, if they were not received from a primary establishment;
 - (e) a copy of all documentation that is required under these Regulations to accompany the immediate container of the sperm or ova;
 - (f) any information that allows for the identification of the recipient; and
 - (g) any information with respect to the disposition of the sperm or ova.

Establishment to cooperate

(2) An establishment must provide to the establishment and health professional all of the documents and information that it possesses to update the establishment and health professional's records

Establishments and health professionals who make use of donor sperm or ova must keep the documents and information contained in this section of the Safety Regulations to permit the tracing of donor sperm and ova throughout the distribution chain. This includes information that allows for the identification of the recipient.

In the case of donor sperm or ova processed in accordance with the directed donation process and in the case of donor sperm or ova released under exceptional access, the health professional must also keep a record of the documents required by subsection 29(4), section 40, and subsections 66(4) and 74(4) of the Safety Regulations.

An establishment that distributes sperm or ova to another establishment or a health professional who make use of that sperm or ova must provide the documents or information it possesses to enable the establishment or health professional to meet the record retention and traceability requirements.

Retention period — processing, distribution, importation and making use

82 An establishment and a health professional must keep records in respect of each immediate container of sperm or ova for a period of 10 years after the day on which they distribute, make use of or effect the disposition of the sperm or ova.

After processing, donor sperm and ova may be cryopreserved for an extended period of time prior to their distribution, use or disposition. For this reason, this section of the Safety Regulations extends the retention period to 10 years after the distribution, use or disposition of the sperm or ova. Health Canada recognizes that there may be factors beyond the scope of the AHR Act for which a longer record retention period may be justified. As such, Health Canada encourages establishments and health professionals to retain records specific to each donation for longer than the minimum period of time set out in the Regulations.

Investigation

- **83 (1)** An establishment or health professional that has conducted or received a notice of an investigation respecting an accident, error or adverse reaction must keep records that contain
 - (a) any documents and information with respect to the investigation;
 - (b) any notices that were received and copies of those that were sent and a list of all the establishments, health professionals or recipients to which they were sent; and
 - (c) a copy of any reports sent to the Minister.

Retention period

(2) An establishment and a health professional must keep records for a period of 10 years after the date of the last recording in that record.

If an error, an accident or an adverse reaction occurs, a report must be written that describes the incident, the investigation, corrective actions taken, and any follow-up activities required. An establishment or health professional must keep this report, as well as any notices received, copies of notices sent and copies of any reports sent to Health Canada related to the error, accident or adverse reaction for a period of 10 years.

Record qualities

84 (1) Records containing documents and information must be complete and kept in a manner that allows them to be audited at any time.

Information qualities

(2) The information must be accurate, legible and indelible.

Storage of records

85 An establishment and a health professional must store records in a location that has appropriate environmental conditions and that is secure against the entry of unauthorized persons.

An establishment that keeps electronic records must have an electronic system validated for its intended use to ensure the maintenance of the data integrity of those records. Any changes to the electronic system must be evaluated, documented and approved prior to implementation to ensure the integrity of the data and that the records can be retrieved during the required retention period. A history of any changes to electronic records must be available in an audit trail and an establishment must be able to retrieve and print a hard copy of information that is stored in an electronic record.

Records must be accurate, complete, legible, indelible, and readily accessible at all times. This will permit the audit of these records at any given time.

Transitional Provisions

Primary establishment not registered

86 (1) A primary establishment that, before the day on which these Regulations come into force, processes sperm or ova, may continue to do so, despite section 4, without a registration if it files an application for registration under section 5 within 90 days after that day.

Duration

(2) Subsection (1) applies until the determination of the application made under section 5.

Registration number

87 Despite paragraphs 11(2)(b), 18(1)(f) and 50(e), subparagraph 51(1)(b)(v) and paragraph 81(1)(c), a primary establishment's registration number does not have to be provided before the 180th day after the day on which these Regulations come into force.

Distribution or importation before coming into force of these Regulations — notice

88 An establishment that, before the day on which these Regulations come into force, distributes or imports sperm or ova may continue to do so, despite section 18, if it sends a notice to the Minister that meets the requirements of that section within 90 days after that day.

The Safety Regulations come into force on the day that section 10 of the Act comes into force. Any primary establishment that processes sperm or ova before the Safety Regulations come into force may continue to do so without a registration provided it submits an application for registration to Health Canada within 90 days after the day on which the Safety Regulations come into force. This applies until the registration number is issued by Health Canada or the application for registration is refused.

It is important to note the provisions related registration numbers, for example, the requirement that the registration number must be included in the documentation that accompanies the immediate container of sperm or ova, will come into force on the 180th day after which the Safety Regulations come into force.

Any establishment that imports or distributes sperm or ova before the Safety Regulations come into force may continue to do so without prior notification as long as it sends a notification to Health Canada within 90 days after the day on which the regulations come into force.

Distribution or importation — requirements

- 89 (1) An establishment that, on or before the day on which these Regulations come into force, distributes or imports sperm or ova must ensure that
 - (a) the sperm or ova were processed in accordance with these Regulations by a primary establishment; and
 - (b) the primary establishment has filed an application for registration under section 5 within 90 days after the day on which these Regulations come into force.

Duration

(2) Subsection (1) applies until the day on which the determination of the application made under section 5.

Until a primary establishment that has applied for registration receives its registration number, any establishment that distributes or imports sperm or ova processed by that primary establishment is responsible for ensuring that the sperm or ova was processed in accordance with the Safety Regulations and that the primary establishment has filed an application for registration within 90 days of the coming into force of the Safety Regulations. This applies until the registration number is issued by Health Canada or the application for registration is refused.

Sperm obtained before these Regulations come into force

- 90 (1) This section applies to sperm that is obtained before the day on which these Regulations come into force and that may be distributed, imported and used — despite the requirements set out in sections 22 to 40 – only if
 - (a) the sperm is processed, within the meaning of the *Processing and Distribution of*

Semen for Assisted Conception Regulations, in accordance with those Regulations; or

(b) the sperm is the subject of a special access authorization under section 20 of those Regulations.

Special access authorization

(2) Despite subsection (1), sperm that is the subject of a special access authorization may only be distributed and used for the purpose for which the authorization is granted.

Immediate container

(3) Before distributing or making use of the sperm, an establishment and a health professional must ensure that the identification code, within the meaning of the *Processing* and Distribution of Semen for Assisted Conception Regulations, appears in a clear and indelible manner on the label of the immediate container.

Documentation

- (4) Before distributing or making use of the sperm, an establishment and a health professional must ensure that the immediate container of sperm is accompanied by documentation that contains the following information in English or French:
 - (a) the donation code;
 - (b) the name and business address of the processor within the meaning of the Processing and Distribution of Semen for Assisted Conception Regulations;
 - (c) the date of the donation, the tests performed in respect of the donor, the dates and results of the tests and, if necessary, an interpretation of the results; and
 - (d) a copy of the special access authorization, if any.

The distribution, use and importation of donor sperm that was processed in accordance with the Processing and Distribution of Semen for Assisted Conception Regulations (Semen Regulations) prior to the coming into force of the Safety Regulations is permitted, provided the requirements in section 90 of the Safety Regulations are met. This includes donor sperm that was subject to a Donor Semen Special Access Programme (DSSAP) authorization under the Semen Regulations and for which an authorization has already been issued before the coming into force of the Safety Regulations. However, such donor sperm may be imported, distributed or used for only the purpose for which the authorization was issued.

As the Semen Regulations will be repealed upon the coming into force of the Safety Regulations, the DSSAP under the Semen Regulations will no longer exist. Under the Safety Regulations, the directed donation process and exceptional access were designed to account for the vast majority of scenarios that were previously accommodated under the DSSAP. Once the Safety Regulations come into force, Health Canada will no longer authorize the use of otherwise non-compliant donor sperm and ova. Rather, the Safety Regulations are intended to provide individuals with flexibility in choosing their donor, while ensuring

that important information with respect to the risks that the use of a donation may pose is provided to their health professional.

It is important to note that sperm obtained before the Safety Regulations come into force may be distributed, imported or used only if it has been processed either as per the Semen Regulations or as per the Safety Regulations. In other words, donor sperm obtained before the coming into force of the Safety Regulations either has to meet all of the requirements of the Semen Regulations or all of the requirements of the Safety Regulations, in order for that donor sperm to be distributed, imported, or used. Donor sperm obtained at the time the Semen Regulations were in force, but not processed in accordance with the Semen Regulations (e.g., donor was not tested for chlamydia at the time of donation) may still be distributed, imported or made use of if, it meets all of the processing requirements of the Safety Regulations (e.g., donor was tested for chlamydia within a six month interval, and all other screening and testing requirements of the Safety regulations were met).

Records

91 An establishment and a health professional must keep records of all documents and information as required under the Processing and Distribution of Semen for Assisted Conception Regulations, in respect of each immediate container of sperm, unless otherwise required by these Regulations, for a period of 10 years after the day on which they distribute, make use of or effect the disposition of the sperm.

This section of the Safety Regulations sets out the record keeping requirements for sperm that is obtained prior to the coming into force of the Safety Regulations that, following their coming into force, is subsequently distributed, used or its disposition is effected.

Consequential Amendment to the Safety of Human Cells, Tissues and Organs for Transplantation Regulations

92 Paragraph 3(1)(j) of the Safety of Human Cells, Tissues and Organs for Transplantation Regulations is repealed.

Repeal

93 The Processing and Distribution of Semen for Assisted Conception Regulations are repealed.

Coming into Force

Coming into force of section 10 of Act

94 (1) Subject to subsection (2), these Regulations come into force on the day on which

section 10 of the Assisted Human Reproduction Act comes into force.

180th day

(2) Section 3 comes into force on the 180th day after the day on which section 10 of the Assisted Human Reproduction Act comes into force.

References

- ⁵ Evgeni E., Charalabopoulos K., Asimakopoulos B. (2004) Human Sperm DNA Fragmentation and its Correlation with Conventional Semen Parameters. Journal of Reproduction and Infertility; 15(1): 2-14.
- ⁶ Lewis S., Agbaje I., Alvarez J. (2008) Sperm DNA tests as useful adjuncts to semen analysis. Systems Biology in Reproductive Medicine; 54(3): 111-25.
- ⁷ World Health Organization, Department of Reproductive Health and Research. (2010) WHO laboratory manual for the examination and processing of human semen; Fifth edition.
- ⁸ World Health Organization, Department of Reproductive Health and Research. (2010) WHO laboratory manual for the examination and processing of human semen; Fifth edition.
- ⁹ CAN/CSA-Z900.2.1-17 Tissues for Assisted Reproduction; Third Edition.
- ¹⁰ Harris I.S., Fronczak C., Roth L., Meacham R.B. (2011) Fertility and the Aging Male. Rev Urol; 13(4): e184–e190.
- ¹¹ Stone B.A., Alex A., Werlin L.B., Marrs R.P. (2013) Age thresholds for changes in semen parameters in men. Fertility and Sterility; 100(4): 952-958.
- ¹² Su-Ann Koh, Katherine Sanders, Richard Deakin, Peter Burton. (2013) Male age negatively influences clinical pregnancy rate in women younger than 40 years undergoing donor insemination cycles. Reproductive BioMedicine Online; 27: 125-130.
- ¹³ Sharma R, Agarwal A, Rohra VK, Assidi M, Abu-Elmagd M, Turki RF. (2015) Effects of increased paternal age on sperm quality, reproductive outcome and associated epigenetic risks to offspring. Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology; 13: 35.
- ¹⁴ Pellestor F, Andreo B, Arnal F, Humeau C, Demaille J. (2003) Maternal aging and chromosomal abnormalities: new data drawn from in vitro unfertilized human oocytes. Hum Genet; 112: 195-203.
- ¹⁵ Ghosh S., Feingold E., Dey S.K. (2009) Etiology of Down syndrome: Evidence for consistent association among altered meiotic recombination, nondisjunction, and maternal age across populations. Am J Med Genet A; 149A (7): 1415-20.
- ¹⁶ Newberger D.S. (2000) Down Syndrome: Prenatal Risk Assessment and Diagnosis. Am Fam Physician; 62(4): 825-832.
- ¹⁷ Morris J.K., Mutton D.E., Alberman E. (2002) Revised estimates of the maternal age specific live birth prevalence of Down's syndrome. Journal of Medical Screening; 9 (1): 2–6.
- ¹⁸ Fitzgerald C., Zimon A.E., Jones E.E. (1998) Aging and reproductive potential in women. The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine; 71(5):367-381.
- ¹⁹Alviggi C., Humaidan P., Howles C.M., Tredway D., Hillier S.G. (2009) Biological versus chronological ovarian age: implications for assisted reproductive technology. Reprod Biol Endocrinol; 7:101.
- ²⁰ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (1999) Guidelines for National Human Immunodeficiency Virus Case Surveillance, Including Monitoring for Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection and Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome. MMWR Recomm Rep; 48(RR13):1-31.
- ²¹Ruiz J.D., Molitor F., Sun R.K., Mikanda J., Facer M., Colford J.M., Rutherford G.W., Ascher M.S. (1999) Prevalence and correlates of hepatitis C virus infection among inmates entering the California correctional system; 170(3): 156-160.
- ²² Bourgeois AC, Edmunds M, Awan A, Jonah L, Varsaneux O, Siu W. (2017) HIV in Canada—Surveillance Report, 2016. Can Commun Dis Rep; 43(12):248-56.

¹ World Health Organization, Department of Reproductive Health and Research. (2010) WHO laboratory manual for the examination and processing of human semen; Fifth edition.

² Steyaert S.R., Leroux-Roels G.G. and Dhont M. (2000) Infections in IVF: review and guidelines. Human Reproduction Update; 6(5): 432-441.

³ Gilling-Smith C., Emiliani S., and Almeida P. (2005) Laboratory safety during assisted reproduction in patients with blood-borne viruses. Hum Reprod; 20 (6): 1433-1438.

⁴ Benchaib M., Lornage J., Mazoyer C., Lejeune H., Salle B., (2007) François Guerin J. Sperm deoxyribonucleic acid fragmentation as a prognostic indicator of assisted reproductive technology outcome. Fertility and Sterility; 7(1): 93-100.

- ²³ Public Health Agency of Canada. (2004) Hepatitis C virus transmission in the prison/inmate population: https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/reports-publications/canada-communicable-disease-reportccdr/monthly-issue/2004-30/hepatitis-virus-transmission-prison-inmate-population-1.html
- ²⁴ CATIE Canada's source for HIV and hepatitis C information: https://www.catie.ca/en/hiv-canada
- ²⁵ Correctional Service Canada. Human Immunodeficiency virus (HIV) Age, Gender and Indigenous Ancestry: https://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/publications/005007-3034-eng.shtml
- ²⁶ Chang T.T., Liou T.C., Young K.C., Lin X.Z., Lin C.Y., Shin J.S., Wu H.L. (1994) Intrafamilial transmission of hepatitis C virus: the important role of inapparent transmission. J Med Virol; 42(1):91-6.
- ²⁷ Bratòs M.A., Eiros J.M., Orduña A., Cuervo M., Ortiz de Lejarazu R., Almaraz A., Martín-Rodríguez J.F., Gutiérrez-Rodríguez M.P., Orduña Prieto E., Rodríguez-Torres A. (1993) Influence of syphilis in hepatitis B transmission in a cohort of female prostitutes. Sex Transm Dis; 20(5): 257-61.
- ²⁸ Rosenblum L., Darrow W., Witte J., Cohen J., French J., Gill P.S., Potterat J., Sikes K., Reich R., Hadler S. (1992) Sexual practices in the transmission of hepatitis B virus and prevalence of hepatitis delta virus infection in female prostitutes in the United States. JAMA; 267(18):2477-81.
- ²⁹ Van Damme P., Cramm M., Van der Auwera J.C., Vranckx R., Meheus A. (1995) Horizontal transmission of hepatitis B virus. Lancet; 345(8941):27-9.
- ³⁰ Frezzo T.M., Rubinstein W.S., Dunham D., Ormond K.E.(2003) The genetic family history as a risk assessment tool in internal medicine. Genet Med; 5(2):84-91.
- ³¹ Centre for Disease Control and Prevention: https://www.hhs.gov/programs/prevention-and-wellness/familyhealth-history/index.html
- ³² U.S. National Library of Medicine: https://ghr.nlm.nih.gov/primer/inheritance/familyhistory
- ³³ Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. My Family Health Portrait A tool from the Surgeon General: https://phgkb.cdc.gov/FHH/html/index.html
- ³⁴ The American Medical Association: https://www.ama-assn.org/delivering-care/precision-medicine/collectingfamily-history
- ³⁵ Genetics Education Canada. GEC-KO family history (general) point of care tool: https://geneticseducation.ca/point-of-care-tools-2/family-history/general-tool/
- ³⁶ Wilson R.D., De Bie I., Armour C.M., Brown R.N., Campagnolo C., Carroll C.C., Okun N., Nelson T., Zwingerman R. (2016) Joint SOGC-CCMG Opinion for Reproductive Genetic Carrier Screening: An Update for All Canadian Providers of Maternity and Reproductive Healthcare in the Era of Direct-to-Consumer Testing; 38 (8); 742-762.e3.
- ³⁷ The Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada: https://www.sogc.org/
- ³⁸ The Canadian College of Medical Geneticists: https://ccmg-ccgm.org/
- ³⁹ CAN/CSA-Z900.2.1-17 Tissues for Assisted Reproduction, Third Edition.
- ⁴⁰ Genetics Education Canada Knowledge Organization: https://geneticseducation.ca/
- ⁴¹ American Society for Reproductive Medicine: https://www.asrm.org/
- ⁴² Number of genes linked to single gene disorders and traits as of May 3rd, 2019. Some genes may have been counted more than once given that in some instances, the same gene can be responsible for more than one mutation, thus causing more than one phenotype/disease.
- ⁴³ Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man: An online catalogue of human genes and genetic disorders. McKusick-Nathans Institute of Genetic Medicine, Johns Hopkins University (Baltimore, MD): https://www.omim.org/
- ⁴⁴ Edwards J.G., Feldman G., Goldberg J., Gregg A.R., Norton M.E., Rose N.C., Schneider A., Stoll K., Wapner R., Watson M.S. (2015) Expanded Carrier Screening in Reproductive Medicine—Points to Consider: A Joint Statement of the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics, American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, National Society of Genetic Counselors, Perinatal Quality Foundation, and Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine. Obstetrics & Gynecology; 125 (3); 653-662.
- ⁴⁵ Lidewij Henneman, Borry P., Chokoshvili D., Cornel M.C., El CG., Forzano F., Hall A., Howard H.C., Janssens S., Kayserili H., Lakeman P., Lucassen A., Metcalfe S.A., Vidmar L., Wert G., Dondorp W.J., Peterlin B. on behalf of the European Society of Human Genetics (2017) Responsible implementation of expanded carrier screening European Journal of Human Genetics; 25: 1291; doi:10.1038/ejhg.2017.159